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Best World International Limited specialises in the  
development of health and wellness products, which are distributed 

through our direct selling channels. Founded in 1990 to provide the best 
quality products to enhance our customers’ lives, Best World has evolved 

into one of the leading companies in the health and wellness industry.  
Best World was the first direct selling company to be listed in the 

Singapore Stock Exchange in July 2004. 

Leveraging on our 3P strategy for consistent growth, we strive  
to improve the well-being of our customers with premium quality 

PRODUCTS, we devote ourselves to fulfilling the dreams  
of aspiring entrepreneurs through our international network PLAN, 

ultimately cultivating well-rounded PEOPLE in Best World. 

Best World has a strong presence in Malaysia, Indonesia, Vietnam,  
Thailand, Taiwan, Hong Kong, China and Australia and will  

continue to expand outside Asia-Pacific in the future. 
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GROWTH 
IN 

CHANGE 

A healthy tree grows through climatic changes.  
Despite market adjustments in some countries we are in,  

Best World has not stopped growing operationally. Market developments 
have taken root in South Korea and the Philippines. In Thailand, we’ve 

upgraded and expanded the office during the low seasons. Green shoots 
of progress are also evident in Vietnam. The seeds of regeneration have  

been sown. Sustainable growth is a reasonable forecast.
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2010 Membership by 
Geographical Segment (%)

• Singapore• Malaysia• Indonesia• Others

2010 Revenue by 
Geographical Segment (%)

• Singapore• Malaysia• Indonesia• Thailand• Taiwan• Others
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, we are pleased to present the Annual Report of Best World International 
Limited (“Best World”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 (“FY2010”). 

Shaping Up to Changing Landscapes 
In the challenging business environment of the past year, the Group remained true to its vision – World at 
its Best. This is what we aspire to, as we work to deliver products and services that enhance the lives of our 
people. We continue to strive towards product excellence as we provide platforms for entrepreneurship by 
expanding our distribution network globally. With strong business fundamentals and sustained efforts at 
customer-focused values, the Group achieved a turnover of $49.5 million and net profit of $2.5 million.

Our overall annual performance reflected challenges in several key markets. The spillover effects of the 
regulation of the cosmetics industry in Indonesia in 2H2009, the modifications on our business structure in 
China and Myanmar and a general slowdown in sales momentum from most regions affected the first half 
of 2010 and significantly impacted the Group’s annual performance. Market conditions gradually improved 
in the second half of the financial year due to the recovery of the Thailand market, the continued growth 
momentum of the Taiwan market and a major boost from the launch of our new skincare range “Aestier”.

Focus on Strong Fundamentals
In a challenging operating environment, we assessed that a strong balance sheet would be key to keeping 
our business whole and sound. With focus on operating efficiency and improvement of business 
fundamentals, we continued to generate positive net cash flow despite the decrease in revenue and profit. 

We made major enhancements to our business through continuous product innovation, upgraded trainings 
for distributors, with emphasis on customer service and creation of a culture of brand excellence. We upgraded 
our Bangkok and Singapore Regional Centre facilities to strengthen our bond with our customers. We are 
focused on operational excellence – improving our operating efficiency from supply chain to back-end IT 
systems, realigning them towards achieving better operating margins. These efforts will enable us to make 
better informed decision for the long term and to once again differentiate and innovate.

Striding Towards New Horizons
Moving forward, the Group will continue to re-engage its markets in Indonesia and Malaysia while seeking 
to grow markets like Vietnam, Thailand and Taiwan. With the recent joint venture in the Philippines,  
we hope to deepen our reach in this new potential market to drive our growth further. Besides a South-East 
Asian focus, Best World International looks to North Asia markets like China, Korea and other countries to 
fuel long-term growth. Leveraging on our company’s unique competitive advantage and resilient business 
model, Best World stands equal to its challenges, and is fully equipped to keep the business on track and 
drive it to the envisioned growth level of an up-and-coming global player in direct selling.

STRENGTH 

IN DEPTH
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Note of Gratitude
Despite the many challenges and changes during the year, the Group has remained profitable and is in the 
best position for further growth. As the Group has been able to maintain profitable for this financial year, 
on top of the interim dividends of 1.2 cents per ordinary share, the Board of Directors recommends a special 
one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 0.5 cents per share in addition to a final one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 
0.5 cents per share for the reporting year ended 31 December 2010. This represents a full year dividend 
payout of approximately 185%.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we wish to convey our heartfelt appreciation to the Group’s management 
and staff for their continuing dedication, to our business associates for their enduring support, and finally 
you, our valued shareholders, for sharing our vision and for continuing to place your trust and commitment 
to our shared aspirations.

We close on a note of gratitude as well as great hope and optimism. We have laid a firm foundation for a 
sustainable and resilient business and will continue to build on our legacy of success for the past 21 years 
towards increased profitability as well as long-term growth for our company. 

DR DORA HOAN DR DOREEN TAN
Group Managing Director & CEO  Chairman
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DR DORA HOAN
Group Managing Director & CEO 
Dr Hoan, Founder of the Group, graduated from 
Nanyang University in 1975 with a Bachelor’s 
Degree in History. Her phenomenal journey to 
entrepreneurial success started the day she came 
to know and enkindled a passion for direct selling 
30 years ago. Dr Hoan has since developed 
expertise in both direct selling and corporate 
management. During this period, she continued 
furthering her studies and graduated with an MBA  
and PhD in Business Administration. As Group 
CEO, Dr Hoan oversees and leads the Group’s 
management and business development 
direction. Her expertise in direct selling and 
visionary strategic thinking has dramatically scaled 
Best World from a homegrown business into an 
established Asian enterprise. Today, Dr Hoan puts 
in huge efforts into driving the Group’s vision  
and plans for global expansion. With the same 
entrepreneurial spirit, Dr Hoan also takes active 
leadership roles in various associations and 
grassroots organisations. During her tenure as 
ASME President, she collaborated with “Lianhe 
Zaobao” in initiating the Singapore Prestige  
Brand Award (SPBA). This pioneering effort has 
significantly increased awareness of Singapore 
society on the importance of branding for 
business success. Dr Hoan was awarded as ASEAN 
Outstanding Woman Entrepreneur in June 2008.

DR DOREEN TAN
Chairman
Dr Tan, also a founder of the Group, has 30 years  
of experience in the direct selling industry.  
She has a rich professional knowledge of nutrition 
and dermatology and holds a degree in Applied 
Nutrition from the American Academy of 
Nutrition, an Honorary PhD from Kennedy 
Western University, USA, and a Doctorate Degree 
in Naturopathy from Canyon College, USA. At Best 
World, she heads product development and 
product knowledge trainings. She has a strong 
belief in holistic health and imparts her 
experience through seminar trainings and 
counselling services. Her deep understanding  
of the needs of customers combined with her 
professional authority in the fields of nutrition  
and beauty care has led her to become the 
Group’s key product specialist.

UNITED 

BY VISION
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HUANG BAN CHIN
Chief Operating Officer
Mr Huang graduated from the National University 
of Singapore in 1992 with a Bachelor of Science 
degree majoring in biochemistry and microbiology 
and has over 20 years of experience in the direct 
selling and healthy lifestyle industries. Mr Huang 
joined the Group in 1990 as its marketing manager. 
He was promoted to the position of Director in 
1994 and assumed his position as Executive 
Director in 2003. As Executive Director of the 
Group, he oversaw the Group’s day to day 
operations and managed the Group’s key 
functions of finance, product development, 
information technology, investor relations, etc,  
and was responsible for the execution of the  
Group’s regional business expansion plans.  
His responsibilities were expanded to include the  
role of Group Chief Risk Officer who is in charge  
of developing and maintaining a comprehensive 
process for identifying, assessing, reducing, 
monitoring, controlling and reporting key business 
risks that might impair the achievement of the 
Group’s goals and objectives. In July 2010, Mr Huang 
was promoted to Chief Operating Officer. 

LEE SEN CHOON
Chairman of Audit Committee
Mr Lee is currently a partner of Messrs UHY  
Lee Seng Chan & Co., a public accounting firm  
in Singapore. He has more than 30 years of 
experience in accounting, audit, taxation and 
corporate secretarial work. Mr Lee is the Treasurer 
of the Board of Directors of Singapore Chinese 
High School and a Treasurer of the Board of 
Governors of Hwa Chong Institution. He is also  
a member of the School Advisory Committee of 
Xingnan Primary School. In addition, Mr Lee sits 
on the boards of a number of publicly listed 
companies as an independent director. Mr Lee  
is also a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales and a 
practising member of the Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants in Singapore. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree from the 
then Nanyang University and has a post-graduate 
diploma in Management Studies from the 
University of Salford, United Kingdom.
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ROBSON LEE TECK LENG
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
Mr Lee is the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and also a member of the Audit 
Committee and the Nominating Committee.  
Mr Lee, a senior corporate lawyer, is an equity 
partner in Shook Lin & Bok LLP. He has expertise  
in the areas of global international finance and 
cross-border mergers and acquisitions. He holds 
the position of Secretary in the Board of Governors 
of Hwa Chong Institution and Secretary of the 
Board of Directors of The Singapore Chinese High 
School. He is also a trustee of the land on which 
both Hwa Chong Institution and Hwa Chong 
International School are situated. He currently 
serves as an independent director on the boards 
of several Singapore and Chinese corporations 
listed on the Singapore Exchange. He is also a 
qualified solicitor in England and Wales.  

RAVINDRAN RAMASAMY
Chairman of Nominating Committee
Mr Ravindran is currently a legal consultant with 
INCA Law LLC, and is also an independent director 
of another Singapore-incorporated SGX-ST listed 
company. He is a former Member of Parliament. 
Other prior appointments include Chairman of  
the Government Parliamentary Committee for 
Defence and Foreign Affairs, Board Member of  
the People’s Association, and membership in the 
Government Parliamentary Committee for Home 
Affairs and Law, the Marine Parade Town Council, 
the South East Community Development Council, 
the Singapore Institute of Directors and the 
Singapore Academy of Law.

UNITED 

BY VISION
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KOH HUI
Group Financial Controller
Ms Koh is responsible for leading Best World’s 
regional finance organisation. Her responsibilities 
cover three main areas – management accounting 
for strategic planning and analysis as well as risk 
management, financial accounting in compliance 
to regulatory requirements for treasury, tax and 
audit, and investor relations. She holds a Bachelor 
of Accountancy from Nanyang Technological 
University of Singapore, and is a Certified Public 
Accountant with the Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants of Singapore. Prior to joining the 
Group in 2003, she was a senior auditor with  
Ernst and Young. She assumed the position of 
Group Financial Controller on 1st March 2011.

DR GAN KOK WEE
Group Manager, Human Resource Development
Dr Gan oversees the Group’s education and 
training system. One of his key responsibilities  
is to design and implement leadership training 
programmes for distributors and staff that meet 
the Group’s vision and mission. He also works 
closely with the Group CEO in coaching and 
counselling of distributors. He holds double 
doctorate degrees in Computer Science from  
the National University of Singapore, and Chinese 
Philosophy from East China Normal University.  
He has been in the education and training industry 
for close to 20 years, holding leadership positions 
in mainstream elementary to tertiary educational 
institutions as well as in special education. He also 
has over 10 years coaching and mentoring 
experience with mature students in life-skills 
acquisition and leadership development. 

DIVERSITY 

OF TALENT



BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

GROWTH IN
 CHANGE

11

SUGIHARTO HUSIN
Group Manager, Information System
Mr Sugiharto oversees the Group’s IT 
requirements and champions the creation of  
new software that enhances business operations.  
He provides technological direction and oversees 
implementation of computer systems. He holds  
a Bachelor’s Degree with Honours in Computer 
Science from University of Central England. He is 
also a certified Architect for Enterprise Java 
Application. He joined the Group in 2006.

ANG PING
Group Manager, Branding
Mr Ang champions the brand management  
of the company’s brands across global markets. 
He oversees the strategic positioning and 
development of brands at the group level.  
He defines the brand standards across diverse 
product and corporate brands centred around 
delivering a distinctive customer experience. 
Leading a branding team with expertise in design, 
multi-media and literature, he ensures our brand 
experience stays unique and fresh in global 
competition. He joined Best World in April 2007 
with an MBA from University of Chicago Graduate 
School of Business and has over 10 years of brand 
consulting experience.
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JERRY LU
Regional General Manager, South East Asia
Mr Lu is in charge of managing the South East 
Asian operations. He currently oversees the 
strategic planning, business development, 
operational processes of the businesses and maps 
out strategies to strengthen market networks.  
He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce 
(Information Systems) from the Curtin University, 
Australia. Mr Lu first joined the company in July 
1995 as a marketing manager. His consistent 
performance over the years has led to his 
promotion as Senior Area Manager in 2007  
and Regional General Manager in 2009.

HO KOK TONG 
Country Manager, Best World Lifestyle  
(Taiwan) Co., Ltd
Interim Country Manager, Best World Lifestyle 
(HK) Company Limited
Mr Ho first joined the company as the General 
Manager of Operations and Corporate in 2007.  
In 2008, he was appointed as the Country Manager 
for Taiwan and is responsible for overseeing the 
strategic planning, business development and 
day-to-day operations of the Group’s Taiwan 
subsidiary. He is a graduate of the Nanyang 
University Bachelor Of Commerce (Hons), a Fellow 
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore (FCPA 
Singapore), and a Fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA). Prior  
to joining the Group, he has had more than  
20 years of experience in the scopes of financial 
management, corporate finance and treasury 
management in both MNCs and SMEs. He also  
has over 10 years of experience in marketing 
health-related products in Southeast Asia.

DIVERSITY 

OF TALENT
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KATHERINE CHEAH
Senior Country Manager, Best World Lifestyle  
Sdn Bhd, Malaysia
Ms Cheah is responsible for overseeing the 
business development of the Malaysian subsidiary. 
Specifically, she oversees cost effectiveness, 
efficiency, profitability, distributor satisfaction  
and day-to-day operations. She was among the 
Group’s pioneer management who witnessed  
the incorporation of our first overseas subsidiary 
outside Singapore and remain the key driver of  
the Malaysian market to-date. Her consistent 
performance over the years has led to her 
promotion to Senior Country Manager in 2006. 
She has been with the Group since 1999 and has 
more than 25 years of experience in the direct 
selling industry. 

DANIEL CHANG 
Country Manager, PT Best World Indonesia
Mr Chang joined PT Best World Indonesia as 
Finance Manager in 2005 and was promoted to 
Deputy Country Manager in 2007, subsequently 
assuming the position of Country Manager in 2009. 
He oversees the day-to-day operations and is in 
charge of direct selling activities and distributor 
relationships in Indonesia. He holds a Bachelor 
Degree in Accounting from Trisakti University, 
Indonesia and an Executive MBA degree from 
California State University East Bay, USA.
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22 February 2011
Announcement of 
full year results 
for financial year ended 
31 December 2010

23 February 2011
Analyst briefing

29 April 2011
Annual General Meeting 

12 May 2011
Proposed announcement  
of first quarter results  
ending 31 March 2011

11 May 2011
Books closure date

24 May 2011
Payment of final dividends

11 August 2011
Proposed announcement
of half year results
ending 30 June 2011  

12 August 2011
Analyst briefing

9 November 2011
Proposed announcement
of third quarter results  
ending 30 September 2011

20 – 27 February 2012
Proposed announcement 
of full year results 
ending 31 December 2011

FINANCIAL 

CALENDAR 2011
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GROUP

STRUCTURE

                                                                                                             Best World Lifestyle Sdn. Bhd. 70% MY       
      

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

     
     

     
      

      
    BWL Health & Sciences, Inc. 80% PH 

    
Be

st 
World

 Lifestyle Pty Ltd 100% AU           

           PT  Best World Indonesia 70%

 ID
    

   

   B
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t W
orld

 Life
style (HK) Company Limited 100% HK         

                  PT Best World Lifestyle Indonesia 70%
#  ID

    
    

    
      

    
    

    
    

  B
est 

World Lifestyle (Taiwan) Co., Ltd 100% TW           

       Best World Lifestyle Pte Ltd 100% SG ............... BBWL Sdn Bhd 9
9%

 B
N 

    
    

   

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  B
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orld Lifestyle (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. 100% CN           

                                              BWL (Thailand) Company Limited 49% TH*    
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 (Qingdao) Health Sciences Company Limited 100% CN                   

                                                                          BWL Korea Co., Ltd 100% KR       
      

     
     

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

     
     

     
Best World China Investments Pte. Ltd. 100% SG 

                                                                                     Avance Living Pte. Ltd. 100% SG       
      

                                                                                              Vista Link Company Limited 100%#  VN       
      

                                                                             1%

*  The Group considers the company as a subsidiary of the Group as the Group has management control over the 
company through a shareholders’ agreement.

#  Represents e�ective percentage of equity held by the Group.
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Corporate Social Responsibility
Best World is committed to social responsibility. We are always seeking ways to better integrate social 
development and environmental concerns to ensure a better quality of life for future generations. We will 
continue our focus to contribute to the benefit of underprivileged children and elderly.

To commemorate our 20 years in business, Best World launched World Learner (世界童窗), our brand new 
corporate social responsibility direction, committed to promote education through encouraging students 
to learn via a cross country exchange programme. In our inaugural programme, we worked with schools in 
Szechuan, Republic of China, which were affected by the earthquake. We brought 20 of their brightest 
students to Singapore for a cultural and educational exchange programme. As we work towards transforming 
the way classroom learning should be, we also hope to foster the next generation of innovators and 
entrepreneurs through innovative learning.

Best World Goes Green
We know our environmental management can directly influence our business performance and provide a 
range of productivity benefits across a range of areas. By reducing the environmental impact of our 
operations, we provide better value for our shareholders, reduce ongoing costs, efficiently utilise precious 
resources and initiate programmes that benefit the wider community. 

Progressively Achieving Carbon Neutrality
Over 2008, we reduced our energy consumption, recycled waste, reduced office paper consumption, 
recycled paper and reduced the use of plastic bags. 

Energy use is continuously monitored in our workplace. Each Department nominates a Green Champion 
to educate and advocate the importance of being eco-friendly. Action plans based on these results are 
made in order to improve efficiency and raise awareness among co-workers. 

We have also extended our Eco-friendly campaign into our supply chain management. Our materials used for 
any packaging design are strongly recommended to be either recycled or recyclable. Our logistics department 
also plan timely delivery to our subsidiaries to cut down on CO2 emissions therefore, extra effort is being made 
from the purchase order of raw materials to delivery process to increase efficiency and cut costs. We also prefer 
to work with ISO 14001 certified suppliers to support our belief in combating climate changes.

Alternative Travel Methods to Work
Since relocating to Changi, we encourage our staff to cycle, use public transport, or share cars and cabs to 
and from work. In addition, we also provide a shuttle bus pickup service at three MRT locations for our staff 
to conveniently travel to and from work. 

Our environmental Eco-friendly programme is therefore the result of a structured and forward-looking 
approach into what is required for the future and our aspirations.

CORPORATE 

SOCIAL 

RESPONSIBILITY
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Board of Directors
Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi 
Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui 
Mr Huang Ban Chin 
Mr Lee Sen Choon
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy 

Audit Committee 
Chairman
Mr Lee Sen Choon
Members
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy

Nominating Committee
Chairman 
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy
Members
Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui
Mr Lee Sen Choon 
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng

Remuneration Committee
Chairman 
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng
Members
Mr Lee Sen Choon
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy

Company Secretaries
Ms Chan Wan Mei, ACIS
Ms Low Siew Tian, ACIS

Registered Office & Business Address
1 Changi North Street 1 Lobby 2 
Singapore 498789
www.bestworld.com.sg
info@bestworld.com.sg

Share Registrar & Share Transfer Office
Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
(A division of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd.)
8 Cross Street, #11-00
PWC Building
Singapore 048424

Auditors
RSM Chio Lim LLP
Public Accountants and 
Certified Public Accountants
8 Wilkie Road, #03-08 
Wilkie Edge
Singapore 228095

Audit Partner-in-charge
Ms Woo E-Sah
(since financial year ended 
31 December 2007)

Principal Bankers
The Hong Kong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited
21 Collyer Quay, #14-01
HSBC Building
Singapore 049320

United Overseas Bank Ltd
80 Raffles Place
UOB Plaza 1
Singapore 049513

Investor Relations
Financial PR Pte Ltd
4 Robinson Road, #04-01 
The House of Eden
Singapore 048543
Tel: (65) 6438 2990
Fax: (65) 6438 0064

CORPORATE 
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Our Board of Directors (“Board”) is fully committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance 
in keeping with its overarching philosophy of delivering consistent financial performance with integrity.  
It strongly supports the principles of transparency and accountability by complying with the Code of 
Corporate Governance 2005 (“Code”). 

The Company also strives to achieve good corporate governance to maintain the trust of customers, partners, 
suppliers, employees and the public to safeguard their interests. In addition, the Board consistently maintains 
communication with its shareholders and holds frequent dialogues with investors, analysts, fund managers 
and the press. All presentation material is disseminated to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX”), the press and posted on the Company’s website at www.bestworld.com.sg.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance processes and structures that were in place 
throughout the financial year, with specific reference made to the principles and guidelines of the Code.  
The Board is pleased to confirm that for the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Company has 
adhered to the principles and guidelines as set out in the Code.

The Board will continue to work hard for the benefit of all shareholders by providing timely and accurate 
information through announcements and Investor Relations activities.

BOARD MATTERS
The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is 
collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this and 
the Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board oversees the effectiveness of Management as well as the corporate governance of the Company 
to the best interests of the shareholders. The Board has clear vision and sets high transparency disclosure 
standards. It ensures that obligations to shareholders and stakeholders are understood and met. Each director 
brings to the Board professional skills, experience, insights and sound judgement. Every member of the Board 
is collectively responsible for the success of the Company, therefore, the Board works with the Management 
to provide leadership and guidance and on corporate strategies and directions in relation to the Company’s 
activities which are significant in nature. 

The Board consists of six members, comprising three independent non-executive directors and three 
executive directors. Together, the directors bring a wide range of business, legal and financial experience 
relevant to the Group.

Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi Chairman 
Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui Group Managing Director & CEO
Mr Huang Ban Chin Chief Operating Officer 
 (Mr Huang appointed as Chief Operating Officer with  effect from 6 July 2010)
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng Independent Director 
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy Independent Director
Mr Lee Sen Choon Independent Director
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The full Board meets at least 4 times a year and ad-hoc meetings are convened as and when deemed 
necessary. The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the Board to convene meetings via 
teleconferencing and electronic means.

The Board is entrusted with the responsibility of the overall management of the Company. The principal 
functions of the Board are:

a. Approving policies, strategies and financial objectives of the Company and monitoring the performance 
of Management;

b. Overseeing the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial 
reporting and compliance; 

c. Approving nominations of board directors, committee members and key personnel; 
d. Approving annual budgets, funding requirements, expansion programmes, capital investment, major 

acquisitions and divestments proposals; and
e. Approving transactions involving interested parties.

Certain functions have been delegated to various Board Committees, namely the Nominating Committee 
(“NC”), the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and the Audit Committee (“AC”). These Committees are made 
up wholly or predominantly of and chaired by independent directors.

The following table shows the number of meetings held by the Board and Committees and the attendance 
of each of the Directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2010:

    Audit Nominating Remuneration
Name of Directors   Board Committee Committee Committee

Number of meetings held   4 4 1 1
Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi   4 – – –
Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui   4 – 1 –
Mr Huang Ban Chin   4 – – –
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng   3 4 1 1
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy   4 4 1 1
Mr Lee Sen Choon   4 4 1 1
    
The Company has established financial authorisation and approval limits for operating and capital 
expenditure. The Board approves transactions exceeding certain threshold limits and while delegating 
authority for transactions below these limits to senior management so as to facilitate operational efficiency.

Board members are also encouraged to attend seminars at least annually and receive training to improve 
themselves in the discharge of their duties as directors. The Company works closely with professionals to 
provide its directors with updates on changes to relevant laws, regulations and accounting standards.
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Board Composition and Guidance
Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective 
judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small group of 
individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Company endeavours to maintain a strong and independent element on the Board with the independent 
directors making up of at least one-third of the Board. The independent directors have confirmed that they do 
not have any relationship with the Company or its related companies or its officers that could interfere, or be 
reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s independent business judgement with a 
view to the best interests of the Company. The independence of each director is reviewed annually by the NC. 
For the financial year under review, the NC has reviewed and determined that the said directors are independent.

The Board is of the opinion that its current size of six Board members is appropriate, of which three are 
independent directors having taken into account the nature and scope of the Company’s operations.  
The composition of the Board is also reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the 
appropriate mix of expertise and experience for effective functioning of the Board. Together, the Board 
members possess a balanced field of core competencies to lead the Company. Details of the Board members’ 
qualifications and experience are presented in this Annual Report under the heading “Board of Directors”.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the Board 
and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power and authority, 
such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

There is a clear division of the roles and responsibilities of the Chairman, Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi and the 
Group Managing Director (“MD”) & CEO, Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui. The presence of a strong independent 
element and the participation of the independent directors ensure that the Chairman and the Group  
MD & CEO do not have unfettered powers of decision.

The Chairman’s duties and responsibilities include:

a. scheduling of meetings to enable the Board to perform its duties responsibly;
b. reviewing the agenda and board papers for Board Meetings;
c. ensuring the proper conduct of meetings and accurate documentation of the proceedings;
d. ensuring effective communication with shareholders;
e. ensuring the smooth and timely flow of information between the Board and Management; and
f. ensuring compliance with internal policies and guidelines of the Company.

In addition to the above duties, the Chairman will assume other duties and responsibilities as may be required 
from time to time. 

The Group MD & CEO, Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui is responsible in the strategic direction of the Company and 
provides the Group with strong leadership and vision. The Group MD & CEO is supported by the Management 
in her duties.
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Board Membership
Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board. 

The NC is established comprising of four members, a majority of whom are non-executive independent 
directors. 

Chairman : Mr Ravindran Ramasamy
Member : Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui 
Member : Mr Lee Sen Choon
Member : Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng 

The NC is established for the purpose of ensuring that there is a formal and transparent process for all Board 
appointments. It has adopted written terms of reference defining its membership, administration and duties. 

The duties of the NC are as follows: 

a. To make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments; 
b. To re-nominate directors having regard to their contribution and performance;
c. To determine annually whether a director is independent; 
d. To review the composition of the Board and make recommendations on the performance criteria and 

appraisal process to be used for the evaluation of the individual directors; and 
e. To assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and decide if each director has been adequately 

carrying out his or her duties.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), not 
less than one-third of the directors are required to retire from office by rotation. Accordingly, the directors 
will submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once every three 
years. The Group MD & CEO, Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui, shall however not be subject to retirement by rotation 
or be taken into account in determining the number of directors to retire. 

In addition, any newly appointed director must retire and submit himself for re-election at the next AGM 
following his appointment. Thereafter, he is subject to the one-third rotation rule if re-elected.
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Details of the appointment of directors including date of initial appointment and last re-election, directorships 
in listed companies, both current and for the preceding three years are tabled below:

 Date of initial  Date of last  
 appointment  re-election  Directorship in
Name of directors/appointment as director as director listed companies

Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi 11 December 1990 30 April 2010 Best World International Limited
Chairman 
Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui(1) 11 December 1990 – Best World International Limited
Group MD & CEO 
Mr Huang Ban Chin(2) 13 September 1994 30 April 2008 Best World International Limited
Chief Operating Officer 
Mr Lee Sen Choon(2) 24 May 2004 30 April 2009 Best World International Limited
Independent Director   Hor Kew Corporation Limited
    Kyodo-Allied Industries Ltd
    Rokko Holdings Ltd
    Soon Lian Holdings Limited
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng 24 May 2004 30 April 2009 Best World International Limited
Independent Director   Matex International Limited
    Qian Hu Corporation Limited
    Sim Lian Group Limited
    Serial System Limited
    Youcan Foods International Limited
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy 24 May 2004 30 April 2010 Best World International Limited
Independent Director   Serial System Limited

(1)  According to Article 85 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui, being the Group MD & CEO, shall 
not be subject to retirement by rotation

(2) According to Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Huang Ban Chin and Mr Lee Sen Choon will retire at the 
forthcoming AGM and be eligible for re-election
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Board Performance
Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution 
by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

An effective Board is able to make sound decisions and act in the best interests of the Company and its 
shareholders. 

The NC is responsible to review, assess and to determine on an annual basis, the independence of directors 
and the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each individual director to the 
effectiveness of the Board in the year 2010. 

The directors also completed assessment checklists to assess each individual director’s contributions to the 
effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis. The factors assessed include attendance and participation at 
board meetings, compliance with Company’s policies and procedures, contribution and performance in 
respect of specific tasks delegated and other factors that will assist in assessing the overall effectiveness of 
the Board.

Access to Information
Principle 6: In order to fulfill their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate 
and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis.

The Board is furnished with board papers five days in advance prior to any board meeting. These papers are 
issued in sufficient time to enable the directors to obtain additional information or explanations from the 
Management, if necessary. However, sensitive matters may be tabled at the meeting itself or discussed 
without papers being distributed. The board papers include minutes of the previous meeting, reports relating 
to investment proposals, financial results announcements, and reports from committees, internal and external 
auditors. The management further provides information and additional insights during Board and Committee 
Meetings on the matters discussed.

The directors may communicate directly with the Management team and the Company Secretary on all 
matters whenever they deem necessary. The Company Secretary attends all Board and Committees Meetings 
and is responsible for recording of the proceedings. 

The Board has separate and independent access to the Company Secretary and to other senior management 
executives of the Group at all times in carrying out their duties. 

The Company currently does not have a formal procedure for directors to seek independent and professional 
advice for the furtherance of their duties. However, directors may, on a case-to-case basis, propose to the 
Board for such independent and professional advice, the cost of which may be borne by the Company.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS
Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration 
and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his 
own remuneration.

The RC is established comprising of three members whom are non-executive independent directors. 

Chairman :  Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng 
Member :  Mr Lee Sen Choon 
Member :  Mr Ravindran Ramasamy

No member of the RC has expertise in the field of executive compensation. However, the RC may seek 
professional advice on remuneration matters as and when necessary. The expense of such professional advice 
is borne by the Company.

The RC is established for the purpose of ensuring that there is a formal and transparent procedure for fixing 
the remuneration packages of individual directors. The overriding principle is that no director should be 
involved in deciding his own remuneration. It has adopted written terms of reference that defines its 
membership, roles and functions and administration. 

The duties of the RC are as follows:

a.  To review and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for executive directors and 
senior management staff;

b. To review the remuneration packages of employees related to any of the executive directors, or 
substantial shareholders; and

c. To recommend to the Board, the Executives’ and Employees’ Share Option Schemes or any long term 
incentive scheme.

By reviewing remuneration packages annually, this aims to build a more capable and committed management 
team through competitive compensation and focused management and progressive policies. 
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Level of Mix of Remuneration
Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed 
to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.  
A significant proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate 
and individual performance.

In setting and reviewing the remuneration packages, the Company takes into consideration the remuneration 
and employment conditions in comparable companies and industries, as well as the Group’s relative 
performance and the work scope and performance of the individual directors.

Executive directors do not receive directors’ fees and they have service agreements subject to renewal every 
three years. The remuneration for the executive directors and the key executives comprises of a basic salary 
component and a variable component which is the incentive bonus, based on the performance of the Group 
as a whole.

The independent directors are paid a director’s fee, consisting of a base fee and fees for chairing Committees 
Meetings, for their effort and time spent and for their responsibilities and contribution to the board. The 
directors’ fees are subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM.
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Disclosure on Remuneration
Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, 
and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure in relation 
to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and 
key executives, and performance.

A breakdown of the remuneration paid to each director in bands of $250,000 for the financial year is as follows:

Remuneration of Directors of the Company
      Benefits-
   Salary (1) Bonus in-kind Fees Total
Name  Remuneration Bands (%)  (%) (%) (%) (%)
  

Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi Above $500,000 
 to $750,000 90 7 3 – 100
Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui Above $500,000 
 to $750,000 90 7 3 – 100
Mr Huang Ban Chin Above $250,000 
 to $500,000 89 7 4 – 100
Mr Lee Sen Choon Below $250,000 – – – 100 100
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng Below $250,000 – – – 100 100
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy Below $250,000 – – – 100 100
     
(1) Comprises of salary and all CPF contributions

The Company adopts a policy of rewarding its key executives and managers by way of a basic salary 
component and a variable component comprising variable bonus which is based on individual performance 
as well as incentive bonus which is based on the performance of the Group as a whole.

The top five executives of the Group, earning remuneration not exceeding $250,000, who are not directors, 
are shown below:

Jerry Lu Shih Chieh  – Regional General Manager, South East Asia 
Gan Kok Wee  – Group Manager, Human Resource Development
Ho Kok Tong  – Country Manager, Taiwan
Koh Hui  – Group Financial Controller
Sugiharto Husin   – Group Manager, Information Systems

There are no employees in the Group who are immediate family members of any director or the MD & CEO 
and whose remuneration exceeds $150,000 during the financial year. The remuneration of directors and key 
executives are reviewed by the RC and is disclosed in the Annual Report. The Board is of the opinion that it 
is not necessary to invite the shareholders to approve the Board’s annual remuneration report and policy.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Accountability
Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, 
position and prospects.
 
The Management presents to the Board, the quarterly and full-year accounts and the AC reports to the Board 
on the results for review and approval. The Board approves the results after review and authorises the release 
of the results to the SGX-ST and the public via SGXNET as required by the SGX-ST Listing Manual.

In presenting the annual and quarterly financial statements announcements to shareholders promptly, it is 
the aim of the Board to provide a detailed analysis and a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Group’s performance, financial position and prospect. 

The Board is also provided with relevant information on the Group’s performance for effective monitoring 
and decision-making.

Audit Committee
Principle 11: The Board should establish an AC with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority 
and duties.

The AC comprises of three members whom are non-executive independent directors. 

Chairman : Mr Lee Sen Choon
Member : Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng 
Member : Mr Ravindran Ramasamy

The Chairman, Mr Lee Sen Choon, has more than 20 years of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and 
corporate secretarial work. The other members of the AC possess experience in finance, legal and business 
management. 

The role of the AC is to advise the board in discharging its responsibility to safeguard the Company’s assets, 
maintain adequate accounting records, develop and maintain effective systems of internal control.

The terms of reference of the AC are:

a. To review the audit plan, system of internal accounting controls and the audit report in conjunction 
with external auditors;

b. To review the assistance given by the Company’s officers to the external auditors;
c. To review the independence and objectivity of the external auditors annually;
d. To nominate external auditors for re-appointment;
e. To review the financial statements of the Company including quarterly and full year results and the 

respective announcements before submission to the Board;
f. To give due consideration to the requirements of Stock Exchange Listing Rules; and
g. To review interested person transactions.
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In discharging the above duties, the AC confirms that it has full access to and co-operation from Management 
and is given full discretion to invite any director or executive director to attend its meetings. In addition, the 
AC has been given reasonable resources to enable it to perform its functions properly.

The AC meets with the external auditors without the presence of the Company’s Management annually and 
an annual review is conducted of the volume of non-audit services to satisfy itself that the nature and extent 
of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the auditors before recommending 
their re-appointment to the Company. 

In line with the Company’s intolerance for fraud and unethical actions, a whistle-blowing policy has been 
developed to empower employees with avenues to highlight concerns and address acts of misconduct which 
includes but is not limited to activities that lead to inaccurate financial reporting, unlawful activities and 
breach of company policy. 

For all incidents of severe nature, the AC will be informed and an independent team reporting directly to the 
AC will be established accordingly. The whistle-blowing policy will be disseminated in phases across the 
regional operations in year 2011.

Internal Control
Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

The Board believes that, from the results of reviews and enquiries made, the system of internal controls 
maintained by the Company’s management provides reasonable assurance against material financial 
misstatements or loss. 

The system of internal controls includes the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting 
records, the reliability of financial information, compliance with appropriate legislation, regulation and best 
practice, and the identification and management of business risks.

In the financial year under review, the Company has put in place a comprehensive Enterprise Risk Management 
(“ERM”) programme, its objectives include the following:

a. Identify top risks that the Company is exposed to;
b. Establish whether counter measures are in place to address the top risks and other identified key risks;
c. Develop a structured risk reporting hierarchy leading to the AC; and
d. Develop an ongoing monitoring process to address existing and new risks on a timely basis

In addition to the ERM, a Control Self Assessment programme to provide timely feedback on operating 
effectiveness of operating risk counter measures is systematically being developed and rolled out to our 
regional operations. The management is also evaluating the feasibility of implementing a Business Continuity 
Management programme which will further strengthen the resilience of our business to eventualities like 
accidents, criminal activities or natural disasters that can have catastrophic effects. 
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Internal Audit
Principle 13: The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.

The Company has engaged the services of an external consultant to perform the internal audit functions. 
The internal auditors report directly to the Chairman of the AC on any material non-compliance and internal 
control weaknesses identified in the course of audit. 

Based on risk assessments performed, greater emphasis and appropriate internal reviews are planned for 
high risk areas and material internal controls, including compliance with the group’s policies, procedures and 
regulatory responsibilities. The internal audit plans proposed are reviewed and approved by the AC.

The Internal Audit methodology adopted by our internal auditors is consistent with the requirements of  
The Institute of Internal Auditors. 

Communication with Shareholders
Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

The Company endeavours to communicate regularly, effectively and fairly with its shareholders.

The Company communicates information to its shareholders on a timely basis through:

a. Disclosures to SGXNET and press releases on major developments of the Group;
b. The Group’s website at www.bestworld.com.sg from which shareholders can access. The website 

provides all publicly disclosed financial information, corporate announcements, press releases and 
the annual report;

c. Annual reports which are prepared and issued to all shareholders;
d. Share investor online portal which provides the Company’s share updates and all publicly disclosed 

information. It also provides web cast of analysts’ briefing for the update of our financial results; and

In addition, the Company communicates regularly with investors and analysts via half yearly results briefing 
as well as via ad-hoc meetings and teleconferences in office.

Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow shareholders the 
opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Annual General Meeting is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. There is an open question 
and answer session at which shareholders may raise questions or share their views regarding the proposed 
resolutions and the Company’s businesses and affairs.

In addition, the Chairman of the respective Committees and the external auditors will be present at the AGM 
to address any queries from the shareholders.
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 Dealing in Securities 
The Company has adopted the requirements in SGX-ST’s Rule 1207(18) applicable to dealings in the 
Company’s securities by its Directors, management and officers. Directors, management and officers of the 
Group who have access to price-sensitive, financial or confidential information are prohibited to deal in the 
Company’s shares during the “closed period” commencing two weeks and one month before the 
announcement of the Group’s quarterly and full year results and ending on the date of the announcements 
of such results.

Directors, management and officers of the Group are also advised to observe insider trading laws at all times 
even when dealing in the Company’s securities within the permitted trading period. In addition, the Directors, 
management and officers of the Group are discouraged from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-
term consideration.

Interested Person Transactions Policy
The Company has adopted an internal policy governing procedures for the identification, approval and 
monitoring of transactions with interested persons. All interested person transactions (“IPT”) are subject to 
review by the AC every quarterly to ensure that the relevant rules in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of SGX-
ST are complied with.

Pursuant to Rule 907 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST, transactions entered into with interested persons during 
the financial year are as follows:

 For The Year Ended 2010
 Aggregate value of all IPT 
  during the financial year under Aggregate value of all IPT
 review (excluding transactions less than  conducted under shareholders’
 $100,000 and transactions conducted under   mandate pursuant to Rule 920
 shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 920) (excluding transaction less than $100,000) 
Name of Interested Person $’000 $’000

Pek Cheng Seng Richard(1) 
 – Sales 48 NA
 – Freelance Commission Paid 121 NA

Note:
(1) Immediate family member of Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi

Currently, the Company is not required to have a general mandate from its shareholders in relation to IPT as 
the aggregate value of IPT transactions is below the threshold level as set out in the Listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST.

Material Contracts
There were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interest 
of the Board or controlling shareholders.
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31 DECEMBER 2010

The directors of the company are pleased to present their report together with the audited financial 
statements of the company and of the group for the reporting year ended 31 December 2010. 

1.	 Directors	at	Date	of	Report
The directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:

Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui 
Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi 
Mr Huang Ban Chin 
Mr Lee Sen Choon 
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng  
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy 

2.	 Arrangements	to	Enable	Directors	to	Acquire	Benefits	by	Means	of	the	Acquisition	of	Shares	
and	Debentures
Neither at the end of the reporting year nor at any time during the reporting year did there subsist 
any arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means 
of the acquisition of shares or debentures in the company or any other body corporate.

3.	 Directors’	Interests	in	Shares	and	Debentures
The directors of the company holding office at the end of the reporting year had no interests in the 
share capital of the company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ 
shareholdings kept by the company under section 164 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 except as follows:

	 Held	in	the	name	of	directors	 Deemed	interest
	 	 At	beginning	 At	end	 At	beginning		 At	end	
	 	 of	the	reporting	 of	the	reporting	 of	the	reporting	 of	the	reporting
	 Name	of	directors	and	companies	in	which	interests	are	held	 year	 year	 year	 year

	 Best	World	International	Limited	 Number	of	shares	of	no	par	value

Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui 12,052,000 12,052,000 75,100,000 75,100,000
Dr Doreen Tan Nee Moi 12,152,000 12,152,000 75,000,000 75,000,000
Mr Huang Ban Chin 9,000,000 9,000,000 –  – 
Mr Lee Sen Choon 75,000 75,000 –  – 
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng  66,000 66,000 –  – 

By virtue of section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Dr Dora Hoan Beng Mui and Dr Doreen Tan Nee 
Moi are deemed to have an interest in all the related corporations of the company.

The directors’ interests as at 21 January 2011 were the same as those at the end of the year.
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4.	 Contractual	Benefits	of	Directors
Since the beginning of the reporting year, no director of the company has received or become entitled 
to receive a benefit which is required to be disclosed under section 201(8) of the Companies Act,  
Cap. 50, by reason of a contract made by the company or a related corporation with the director or 
with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest 
except as disclosed in the financial statements.

5.	 Options	to	Take	Up	Unissued	Shares
In July 2010, the company completed its issue of up to 41,140,995 non-renounceable bonus warrants 
on the basis of one warrant for every five existing ordinary shares held by shareholders of the company.

Each warrant will entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one new ordinary share in the ordinary 
share capital of the company at the exercise price of $0.30, exercisable during the period commencing 
on and including the date six months from listing date of the warrants and expiring at 5 p.m. on  
the market day immediately preceding the third anniversary of the date of the issue of the warrants. 
The bonus warrants will expire on 5 July 2013. 

6.	 Options	Exercised
During the reporting year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued 
by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

7.		 Unissued	Shares	Under	Option
At the end of the reporting year, there were no unissued shares under option.

8.	 Audit	Committee
The members of the audit committee at the date of this report are as follows:
Mr Lee Sen Choon (Chairman of audit committee and Independent Director)
Mr Robson Lee Teck Leng  (Independent Director)
Mr Ravindran Ramasamy (Independent Director)

The audit committee performs the functions specified by section 201B(5) of the Companies Act. 
Among others, it performed the following functions:

• Reviewed with the independent external auditors their audit plan;
• Reviewed with the independent external auditors their evaluation of the company’s internal 

accounting controls, their report on the financial statements and the assistance given by the 
company’s officers to them;

• Reviewed with the internal auditors the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;
• Reviewed the financial statements of the group and the company prior to their submission to 

the directors of the company for adoption; and 
• Reviewed the interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual  

of SGX).
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8.	 Audit	Committee	(Cont’d)
 Other functions performed by the audit committee are described in the report on corporate governance 
included in the annual report. It also includes an explanation of how independent auditors’ objectivity 
and independence is safeguarded where the independent auditors provide non-audit services.

 The audit committee has recommended to the board of directors that the independent auditors, RSM 
Chio Lim LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as independent auditors at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting of the company.

9.	 Independent	Auditors
The independent auditors, RSM Chio Lim LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept  
re-appointment. 

10.	 Subsequent	Developments
There are no significant developments subsequent to the release of the group’s and the company’s 
preliminary financial statements, as announced on 22 February 2011, which would materially affect 
the group’s and the company’s operating and financial performance as of the date of this report.

On Behalf of the Directors

 
Doreen	Tan	Nee	Moi	 Dora	Hoan	Beng	Mui
Director Director

7 March 2011
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In the opinion of the directors, 

a. the accompanying consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, statements of financial position, statements of changes in equity, consolidated statement of 
cash flows, and notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the company and of the group as at 31 December 2010 and of the results and cash flows of the group 
and changes in equity of the company and of the group for the reporting year then ended; and

b. at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

The board of directors approved and authorised these financial statements for issue on 7 March 2011.

On Behalf of the Directors

 
Doreen	Tan	Nee	Moi	 Dora	Hoan	Beng	Mui
Director Director

7 March 2011

STATEMENT 

BY DIRECTORS

31 DECEMBER 2010
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INDEPENDENT 

AUDITORS’ REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF 

BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

(REGISTRATION NO: 199006030Z)

Report	on	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Best World International Limited and its 
subsidiaries (the  “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the group and the company 
as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated statement of income, statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the group and statement of changes in equity 
of the company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes. 

Management’s	Responsibility	for	the	Financial	Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls 
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use 
or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit 
the preparation of true and fair statement of comprehensive income and statements of financial position 
and to maintain accountability of assets.

Independent	Auditors’	Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with the Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position 
and statement of changes in equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the group and of the company as at 31 December 2010 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows 
of the group and the changes in equity of the company for the reporting year ended on that date.

Report	on	Other	Legal	and	Regulatory	Requirements	
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the independent auditors have been properly kept 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

RSM	Chio	Lim	LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

7 March 2011

Partner in charge of audit: Woo E-Sah
Effective from year ended 31 December 2007
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CONSOLIDATED 

STATEMENT 

OF IN
COME

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

	 	 	 	 Notes	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000
	

Revenue    5 49,549 72,956 
Cost of Sales      (11,283) (19,019)
Gross	Profit	     38,266 53,937
Other	Items	of	Income  
Interest Income     138 219 
Other Operating Income    6 644 731 
Other Credits    7 59 1,953 
Other	Items	of	Expense   
Distribution Costs    9 (18,238) (26,421) 
Administrative Expenses    9 (16,830) (18,460) 
Finance Costs    8 – (3) 
Other Charges    7 (936) (567)
Profit	Before	Tax	from	Continuing	Operations     3,103 11,389
Income Tax Expenses    12 (980) (1,678)
Profit	from	Continuing	Operations,	Net	of	Tax     2,123 9,711

Profit (Loss) Net of Tax Attributable to:   
 – Owners of the Parent Company    	 2,450 9,671 
 – Non-Controlling Interests     (327) 40
Profit	Net	of	Tax	     2,123 9,711

Earnings	Per	Share      
Earnings per Share (expressed in cents per share)    14   
 – Basic	 	 	 	 	 1.19 4.69 
 – Diluted     1.19 4.69

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED 

STATEMENT OF 

COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

	 	 	 	 Notes	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000
	

Profit	Net	of	Tax     2,123 9,711 
Other	Comprehensive	Income	(Expense)      
Exchange Losses on Translating Foreign Operations     (913) (870)
Other	Comprehensive	Expense	for	the	Year,	Net	of	Tax    (913) (870)
Total	Comprehensive	Income     1,210 8,841

Total Comprehensive Income (Expense) Attributable to:      
 – Owners of the Parent Company     1,422 9,012
 – Non-Controlling Interests     (212) (171)
Total Comprehensive Income     	 1,210 8,841

     
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS 

OF FINANCIAL 

POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010 

	 Notes	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

ASSETS       
Non-Current	Assets       
Property, Plant and Equipment  16 6,562 6,949 2,635 3,320 
Intangible Assets  17 1,691 2,150 228 237
Investments in Subsidiaries  18 – – 22,543 9,761 
Deferred Tax Assets  12 5 15 – – 
Other Receivables  19 – – 1,889 3,289
Other Financial Assets  20 468 206 259 –
Total	Non-Current	Assets   8,726 9,320 27,554 16,607

Current	Assets	  
Inventories  21 5,138 6,794 3,538 5,022
Trade and Other Receivables  22 6,700 10,242 11,170 14,039
Other Financial Assets  20 – 1,000 – 1,000
Other Assets  23	 1,575 1,713 898 1,212
Cash and Cash Equivalents  24 36,733 36,079 12,281 23,650
Total	Current	Assets   50,146 55,828 	 27,887 44,923
Total	Assets   58,872 65,148 55,441 61,530

EQUITY	AND	LIABILITIES 
Equity	Attributable	to	Owners	of	the		Parent	Company	   
Share Capital  25 17,351 17,686 17,351 17,686
Retained Earnings   34,209 36,203 35,654 39,294
Other Reserve  	 (931) 97 – –
Equity,	Attributable	to	Owners	of	the		Parent	Company  50,629 53,986 53,005 56,980
Non-Controlling Interests   (380) 43 – –
Total	Equity   50,249 54,029 53,005 56,980
   
Non-Current	Liabilities    
Deferred Tax Liabilities  12 240 230 184 184
Total	Non-Current	Liabilities   240 230 184 184
	

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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	 Notes	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Current	Liabilities     
Income Tax Payable   391 1,994 244 1,277
Trade and Other Payables  26 7,992 8,895 2,008 3,089
Total	Current	Liabilities   8,383 10,889 2,252 4,366
Total	Liabilities   8,623 11,119 2,436 4,550
Total	Equity	and	Liabilities  	 58,872 65,148 55,441 61,530

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS 

OF CHANGES 

IN EQUITY

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

	 	 Attributable	 	 	 	 Foreign	 	
	 	 to	Parent	 	 	 	 Currency	 Non-
	 Total	 Company	 Share	 Treasury	 Retained	 Translation	 Controlling	
	 Equity	 Sub-total	 Capital	 Shares	 Earnings	 Reserve	 Interests
Group	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Current	Year:        
Opening Balance at 1 January 2010 54,029 53,986 17,686 – 36,203 97 43
Movements in Equity:    
Total Comprehensive Income 
 (Expense) for the year 1,210 1,422 – – 2,450 (1,028) (212)
Dividends Paid (Note 15) (4,655) (4,530) – – (4,530) – (125)
Transferred to Retained Earnings 
 (Note 31) – 86 – – 86 – (86)
Share Buy Back – Held as 
 Treasury Share (Note 25) (289) (289) – (289) – – –
Other Expenses (Note 25) (46) (46) (46) – – – –
Closing	Balance	at	31	December	2010	 50,249	 50,629	 17,640	 (289)	 34,209	 (931)	 (380)
         
Previous	Year:        
Opening Balance at 1 January 2009 49,852 49,512 17,686 – 31,070 756 340
Movements in Equity:        
Total Comprehensive Income (Expense)
 for the year 8,841 9,012 – – 9,671 (659) (171)
Dividends Paid (Note 15) (4,664) (4,538) – – (4,538) – (126)
Closing	Balance	at 31	December	2009	 54,029	 53,986	 17,686	 –	 36,203	 97	 43

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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	 	 	 Total	 Share	 Treasury	 Retained
	 	 	 Equity	 Capital	 Shares	 Earnings	
Company	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Current	Year:       
Opening Balance at 1 January 2010   56,980 17,686 – 39,294
Movements in Equity:  
Total Comprehensive Income for the year   890 – – 890
Dividends Paid (Note 15)   (4,530) – – (4,530)
Share Buy Back – Held as Treasury Share   (289) – (289) –
Other Expenses   (46) (46) – –
Closing	Balance	at	31	December	2010	 	 	 53,005	 17,640	 (289)	 35,654

Previous	Year:  
Opening Balance at 1 January 2009   56,132 17,686 – 38,446 
Movements in Equity:    
Total Comprehensive Income for the year   5,386 – – 5,386
Dividends Paid (Note 15)   (4,538) – – (4,538)
Closing	Balance	at	31	December	2009	 	 	 56,980	 17,686	 –	 39,294

     
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED 

STATEMENT 

OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	

Cash	Flows	From	Operating	Activities:    
Profit Before Tax     3,103 11,389
Interest Income     (138) (219)
Interest Income from Other Receivable     – (293)
Interest Expense     – 3
Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment     1,542 1,773
Amortisation of Intangible Assets     146 146
Impairment Loss on Intangible Assets      322 213
Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment     13 13
Gain on Disposal of a Subsidiary     – (317)
Net Effect of Exchange Rate Changes in Consolidating Foreign Subsidiaries  (867) (831)
Operating	Cash	Flows	before	Changes	in	Working	Capital	    4,121 11,877
Inventories     1,656 1,576
Trade and Other Receivables     3,756 (6,151)
Other Assets     138 (372)
Trade and Other Payables     (845) (1,669)
Net	Cash	Flows	from	Operations	Before	Interest	and	Tax    8,826 5,261
Income Tax Paid    	 (2,777) (2,181)
Net	Cash	Flows	From	Operating	Activities    	 6,049 3,080
  
Cash	Flows	From	Investing	Activities:  
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment    	 (1,260) (708)
Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment     60 9
Disposal of a Subsidiary (Net of Cash Disposed) (Note 13)    – (525)
Increase in Intangible Assets     (84) (153)
Decrease in Other Financial Assets    	 741 2,500
Decrease in Other Receivables     – 5,443
Interest Received     138 219
Interest Received from Other Receivable     – 293
Net	Cash	Flows	(Used	in)	From	Investing	Activities     (405) 7,078
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	

Cash	Flows	From	Financing	Activities:  
Decrease in Finance Leases      – (22)
Dividends Paid to Non-Controlling Interests    	 (125) (126)
Dividends Paid    	 (4,530) (4,538)
Purchase of Treasury Shares    	 (289) –
Bonus Warrants Issue Expenses     (46) –
Interest Paid     – (3)
Net	Cash	Flows	Used	in	Financing	Activities     (4,990) (4,689)

Net	Increase	in	Cash	and	Cash	Equivalents     654 5,469
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Statement of Cash Flows, Beginning Balance   	 34,320 28,851
Cash	and	Cash	Equivalents,	Statement	of	Cash	Flows,	
	 Ending	Balance	(Note	24)    	 34,974 34,320

    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1.	 General
The company is incorporated in Singapore with limited liability. The financial statements are presented 
in Singapore dollars and they cover the parent company and the group’s subsidiaries. 

The board of directors approved and authorised these financial statements for issue on 7 March 2011.

The principal activities of the company are those of investment holding and the distribution of 
nutritional supplement products, personal care products and healthcare equipment. It is listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed 
in Note 18 to the financial statements.

The registered office is: 1 Changi North Street 1, Lobby 2, Singapore 498789. The company is domiciled 
in Singapore.

2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies
Accounting Convention 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (“FRS”) and all related Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) as issued by the Singapore 
Accounting Standards Council and the Companies Act, Cap. 50. The financial statements are prepared 
on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention except where the FRS requires an 
alternative treatment (such as fair values) as disclosed where appropriate in these financial statements. 

Basis of Presentation 
The consolidation accounting method is used for the consolidated financial statements that include 
the financial statements made up to the end of the reporting year of the company and all of its directly 
and indirectly controlled subsidiaries. Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements 
of the group presented as those of a single economic entity. The consolidated financial statements 
are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar 
circumstances. All significant intragroup balances and transactions, including income, expenses and 
dividends, are eliminated in full on consolidation. The results of the investees acquired or disposed of 
during the reporting year are accounted for from the respective dates of acquisition or up to the dates 
of disposal which is the date on which effective control is obtained of the acquired business until that 
control ceases. On disposal the attributable amount of goodwill if any is included in the determination 
of the gain or loss on disposal. 

The company’s financial statements have been prepared on the same basis, and as permitted by the 
Companies Act, Cap. 50, no statement of income is presented for the company.
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	2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires the management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting year. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Apart from those involving estimations, management has made judgements in the process of 
applying the entity’s accounting policies. The areas requiring management’s most difficult, subjective 
or complex judgements, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed at the end of this footnote, where applicable.

Revenue Recognition 
The revenue amount is the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the gross inflow 
of economic benefits during the reporting year arising from the course of the activities of the entity 
and it is shown net of any related sales taxes, estimated returns and rebates. Revenue from the sale of 
goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer, there 
is neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 
effective control over the goods sold, and the amount of revenue and the costs incurred or to be 
incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. Interest is recognised using the 
effective interest method. Dividends from equity instruments is recognised as income when the 
entity’s right to receive payment is established. 

Employee Benefits 
Certain subsidiaries operate a defined contribution provident fund scheme, in which employees are 
entitled to join upon fulfilling certain conditions. The assets of the fund are held separately from those 
of the entity in an independently administered fund. The entity contributes an amount equal to a fixed 
percentage of the salary of each participating employee. Contributions are charged to profit or loss 
in the period to which they relate. This plan is in addition to the contributions to government managed 
retirement benefit plans such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore which specifies the 
employer’s obligations which are dealt with as defined contribution retirement benefit plans. For 
employee leave entitlement the expected cost of short-term employee benefits in the form of 
compensated absences is recognised in the case of accumulating compensated absences, when the 
employees render service that increases their entitlement to future compensated absences; and in 
the case of non-accumulating compensated absences, when the absences occur. A liability for bonuses 
is recognised where the entity is contractually obliged or where there is constructive obligation based 
on past practice. 
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Income Tax 
The income taxes are accounted using the asset and liability method that requires the recognition of 
taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future 
tax consequence of events that have been recognised in the financial statements or tax returns. The 
measurements of current and deferred tax liabilities and assets are based on provisions of the enacted 
or substantially enacted tax laws; the effects of future changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipated. 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Current and 
deferred income taxes are recognised as income or as an expense in profit or loss unless the tax relates 
to items that are recognised in the same or a different period outside profit or loss. For such items 
recognised outside profit or loss the current tax and deferred tax are recognised (a) in other 
comprehensive income if the tax is related to an item recognised in other comprehensive income and 
(b) directly in equity if the tax is related to an item recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same income tax authority. The 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting year and is reduced, 
if necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits that, based on available evidence, are not expected to 
be realised. A deferred tax amount is recognised for all temporary differences, unless the deferred tax 
amount arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which (i) is not a 
business combination; and (ii) at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 
taxable profit (tax loss). A deferred tax liability or asset is recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries except where the reporting entity is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the taxable temporary difference and it is probable that the taxable 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future or for deductible temporary differences, 
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future and they cannot be utilised against taxable profits.

Foreign Currency Transactions 
The functional currency is the Singapore dollar as it reflects the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency 
at the rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. At each end of the reporting year, recorded monetary 
balances and balances measured at fair value that are denominated in non-functional currencies are 
reported at the rates ruling at the end of the reporting year and fair value dates respectively. All realised 
and unrealised exchange adjustment gains and losses are dealt with in profit or loss except when 
recognised in other comprehensive income and if applicable deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow 
hedges. The presentation is in the functional currency. 

Translation of Financial Statements of Foreign Entities
Each entity in the group determines the appropriate functional currency as it reflects the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates. In translating the financial statements of an 
investee for incorporation in the consolidated financial statements the assets and liabilities 
denominated in other currencies are translated at end of the reporting year rates of exchange and the 
profit or loss items are translated at average rates of exchange for the reporting year. The resulting 
translation adjustments (if any) are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a 
separate component of equity until the disposal of that investee.
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Segment Reporting 
The group discloses financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments. Reportable 
segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria. 
Operating segments are components about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing 
performance. Generally, financial information is reported on the same basis as is used internally for evaluating 
operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.

Borrowing Costs 
All borrowing costs that are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale are capitalised as 
part of the cost of that asset until substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset 
for its intended use or sale are complete. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred. The interest expense is calculated using the effective interest rate method. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to allocate the gross carrying amounts of the assets 
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives of each part of an item of these assets. The 
annual rates of depreciation are as follows:
  
Freehold building – 2%
Leasehold properties –  Over the terms of lease of 1.3% to 2%
Plant and equipment – 20% to 33.3%
Freehold land – Not depreciated 

An asset is depreciated when it is available for use until it is derecognised even if during that period 
the item is idle. Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost on initial recognition and after initial recognition at cost 
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item and is recognised in profit or loss. 
The residual value and the useful life of an asset is reviewed at least at each reporting year-end and, if 
expectations differ significantly from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an 
accounting estimate, and the depreciation charge for the current and future periods are adjusted.

Cost also includes acquisition cost, borrowing cost capitalised and any cost directly attributable to bringing 
the asset or component to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Subsequent costs are recognised as an asset only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss when they are incurred.
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)
Cost includes the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the 
site on which it is located, the obligation for which an entity incurs either when the item is acquired 
or as a consequence of having used the item during a particular period for purposes other than to 
produce inventories during that period.

Leases
Whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the 
inception date, that is, whether (a) fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets (the asset); and (b) the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. Leases are classified 
as finance leases if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. At the commencement of the lease term, a finance lease is 
recognised as an asset and as a liability in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined 
at the inception of the lease. The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease 
payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease, if this is practicable to determine, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used. Any initial direct costs of the lessee are added to the amount recognised as an 
asset. The excess of the lease payments over the recorded lease liability are treated as finance charges 
which are allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods 
in which they are incurred. The assets are depreciated as owned depreciable assets. Leases where the 
lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased assets are 
classified as operating leases. For operating leases, lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is 
representative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit, even if the payments are not on that basis. Lease 
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease expense. 

Intangible Assets 
An identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance is recognised as an intangible asset at 
acquisition cost if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset 
will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. After initial recognition, an intangible 
asset with finite useful life is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortised. An intangible asset is 
regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on an analysis of all of the relevant factors, there is 
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the entity. 

The amortisable amount of an intangible asset with finite useful life is allocated on a systematic basis 
over the best estimate of its useful life from the point at which the asset is ready for use. The useful 
lives are as follows: 
  
Trademarks – 5 to 10 years
Product Licenses – 25 years
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Subsidiaries 
A subsidiary is an entity including unincorporated and special purpose entity that is controlled by the 
group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights or 
the ability to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors or to cast the 
majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors. The existence and effect of potential voting 
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the group 
controls another entity.

In the company’s own separate financial statements, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost 
adjusted for any value in the contingent consideration less any allowance for impairment in value. 
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss for a subsidiary is reversed only if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. The net book value of a subsidiary is not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would 
be realised in a current market exchange. 

Business Combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. There were none during 
the reporting year. 

Non-controlling Interests 
The non-controlling interests in the net assets and net results of a consolidated subsidiary are shown 
separately in the appropriate components of the consolidated financial statements. For each business 
combination, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree (subsidiary) is initially measured either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. Where the non-controlling interest is measured at fair value, the valuation techniques and key 
model inputs used are disclosed in the relevant note. Profit or loss and each component of other 
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent company and to the non-controlling 
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the parent company and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Goodwill
Goodwill is recognised as of the acquisition date measured as the excess of (a) over (b); (a) being the 
aggregate of: (i) the consideration transferred which generally requires acquisition-date fair value; (ii) 
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree measured in accordance with FRS 103 
(measured either at fair value or as the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
net identifiable assets); and (iii) in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair 
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree; and (b) being the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured in 
accordance with this FRS 103. 

After initial recognition, goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised. Irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment, goodwill (and also an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or an 
intangible asset not yet available for use) are tested for impairment, at least annually. Goodwill 
impairment is not reversed in any circumstances. 

For the purpose of impairment testing and since the acquisition date of the business combination, 
goodwill is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree were assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units 
to which the goodwill is so allocated represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill 
is monitored for internal management purposes and is not larger than a segment.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, an annual impairment test is performed 
at the same time every year on an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or an intangible asset 
not yet available for use. The carrying amount of other non-financial assets is reviewed at each end of 
the reporting year for indications of impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down 
through profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The impairment loss is the excess of the 
carrying amount over the recoverable amount and is recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). At each 
end of the reporting year non-financial assets other than goodwill with impairment loss recognised 
in prior periods are assessed for possible reversal of the impairment. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost (first in first out method) and net realisable value. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. A write down on cost is made 
for where the cost is not recoverable or if the selling prices have declined. Cost includes all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. 
 
Financial Assets
Initial recognition and measurement and derecognition of financial assets:
A financial asset is recognised on the statement of financial position when, and only when, the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The initial recognition of financial 
assets is at fair value normally represented by the transaction price. The transaction price for financial 
asset not classified at fair value through profit or loss includes the transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. Transaction costs incurred on the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss are expensed 
immediately. The transactions are recorded at the trade date. 

Irrespective of the legal form of the transactions performed, financial assets are derecognised when 
they pass the “substance over form” based on the derecognition test prescribed by FRS 39 relating to 
the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership and the transfer of control. 

Subsequent measurement:
Subsequent measurement based on the classification of the financial assets in one of the following 
four categories under FRS 39 is as follows:

1. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: As at end of the reporting year date there 
were no financial asset classified in this category.
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Financial Assets (Cont’d)
Subsequent measurement: (Cont’d)
2. Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Assets that are for sale immediately 
or in the near term are not classified in this category. These assets are carried at amortised costs 
using the effective interest method (except that short-duration receivables with no stated interest 
rate are normally measured at original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest would 
be significant) minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for 
impairment or uncollectibility. Impairment charges are provided only when there is objective 
evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. The methodology ensures that an impairment loss is not recognised on the 
initial recognition of an asset. Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, 
are not recognised. For impairment, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of 
an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss 
is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. Typically the trade and other receivables are classified in this category.

3. Held-to-maturity financial assets: These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity that the entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
Financial assets that upon initial recognition are designated as at fair value through profit or loss or 
available-for-sale and those that meet the definition of loans and receivables are not classified in 
this category. These assets are carried at amortised costs using the effective interest method minus 
any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility. 
Impairment charges are provided only when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 
has been incurred. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an 
allowance account. The gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the investments are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. Impairment losses 
recognised in profit or loss are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the instrument 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss. Long-
term investments in bonds and debt securities are classified in this category.

4. Available-for-sale financial assets: As at end of the reporting year date there were no financial 
asset classified in this category.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include bank and cash balances, on demand deposits and any highly liquid 
debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less. For the statement of 
cash flows the item includes cash and cash equivalents less cash subject to restriction and bank 
overdrafts payable on demand that form an integral part of cash management. 
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Financial Liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement:
A financial liability is recognised on the statement of financial position when, and only when, the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and it is derecognised when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. The initial recognition of 
financial liability is at fair value normally represented by the transaction price. The transaction price 
for financial liability not classified at fair value through profit or loss includes the transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial liability. Transaction costs incurred 
on the acquisition or issue of financial liability classified at fair value through profit or loss are expensed 
immediately. The transactions are recorded at the trade date. Financial liabilities including bank and 
other borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless there is an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting year.

Subsequent measurement:
Subsequent measurement based on the classification of the financial liabilities in one of the following 
two categories under FRS 39 is as follows:

1. Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: At the end of the reporting year date there were 
no financial liabilities classified in this category.

2. Other financial liabilities: All liabilities, which have not been classified in the previous category 
fall into this residual category. These liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Trade and other payables and borrowing are usually classified in this category. 
Items classified within current trade and other payables are not usually re-measured, as the 
obligation is usually known with a high degree of certainty and settlement is short-term.

Financial Guarantees 
A financial guarantee contract requires that the issuer makes specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss when a specified debtor fails to make payment when due. Financial guarantee 
contracts are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at the greater of (a) the 
amount determined in accordance with FRS 37 and (b) the amount initially recognised less, where 
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with FRS 18. 
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of current financial instruments approximate their fair values due to the short-term 
maturity of these instruments. Disclosures of fair value are not made when the carrying amount of current 
financial instruments is a reasonable approximation of fair value. The fair values of non-current financial 
instruments may not be disclosed separately unless there are significant differences at the end of the 
reporting year and in the event the fair values are disclosed in the relevant notes. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk is the fair value of the financial instruments at the end of the reporting year. The fair value of 
a financial instrument is derived from an active market or by using an acceptable valuation technique. 
The appropriate quoted market price for an asset held or liability to be issued is usually the current bid 
price without any deduction for transaction costs that may be incurred on sale or other disposal and, for 
an asset to be acquired or liability held, the asking price. If there is no market, or the markets available are 
not active, the fair value is established by using an acceptable valuation technique. The fair value 
measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy of 3 levels that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements, that is, Level 1 for the use of quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2 for the use of inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., 
derived from prices); and Level 3 for the use of inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs). The level is determined on the basis of the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Where observable inputs that require 
significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. 

Equity
Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net assets of the company. Ordinary 
shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are recognised at the amount of proceeds received 
net of incremental costs directly attributable to the transaction. Dividends on equity are recognised 
as liabilities when they are declared. Interim dividends are recognised when declared by the directors. 

Treasury Shares
Where the company reacquires its own equity instruments as treasury shares, the consideration paid, 
including any directly attributable incremental cost is deducted from equity attributable to the 
company’s owners until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are 
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the company’s 
owners and no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Provisions
A liability or provision is recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are made using best estimates of the amount required in settlement and where the effect 
of the time value of money is material, the amount recognised is the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense. Changes in estimates are reflected 
in the profit or loss in the reporting year they occur. 

Critical Judgements, Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties
The critical judgements made in the process of applying the accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and the key assumptions 
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting year, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next reporting year are discussed below. These estimates and assumptions are 
periodically monitored to ensure they incorporate all relevant information available at the date when 
financial statements are prepared. However, this does not prevent actual figures differing from estimates.

Allowance for doubtful accounts: 
An allowance is made for doubtful trade accounts for estimated losses resulting from the subsequent 
inability of the customers to make required payments. If the financial conditions of the customers were 
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances 
may be required in future periods. Management generally analyses trade receivables and analyses 
historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness and changes in customer 
payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful trade accounts. To the 
extent that it is feasible impairment and uncollectibility is determined individually for each item. In 
cases where that process is not feasible, a collective evaluation of impairment is performed. At the 
end of the reporting year, the trade receivables carrying amount approximates the fair value and the 
carrying amounts might change materially within the next reporting year but these changes would 
not arise from assumptions or other sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting year.
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2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Critical Judgements, Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties (Cont’d)
Net realisable value of inventories: 
A review is made periodically on inventory for excess inventory and declines in net realisable value 
below cost and an allowance is recorded against the inventory balance for any such declines. These 
reviews require management to consider the future demand for the products. In any case the realisable 
value represents the best estimate of the recoverable amount and is based on the acceptable evidence 
available at the end of the reporting year and inherently involves estimates regarding the future 
expected realisable value. The usual considerations for determining the amount of allowance or write-
down include ageing analysis, technical assessment and subsequent events. In general, such an 
evaluation process requires significant judgement and materially affects the carrying amount of 
inventories at the end of the reporting year. Possible changes in these estimates could result in 
revisions to the stated value of the inventories. The carrying amount of inventories at the end of the 
reporting year was $5,138,000.

Useful lives of plant and equipment: 
The estimates for the useful lives and related depreciation charges for plant and equipment is based 
on commercial and production factors which could change significantly as a result of technical 
innovations and competitor actions in response to severe market conditions. The depreciation charges 
is increased where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or the carrying amounts written 
off or written down for technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. 
It is impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects. It is reasonably possible, based on 
existing knowledge, that outcomes within the next reporting year that are different from assumptions 
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of balances affected. The carrying amount 
of the class of assets affected by the assumption is $3,344,000.

Estimated impairment of goodwill: 
An assessment is made annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment loss, based on the 
recoverable amounts of the cash generating units (“CGU”). The recoverable amounts of the CGUs was 
determined based on value in use calculations and these calculations require the use of estimates in 
relation to future cash flows and suitable discount rates as disclosed in Note 17A. Actual outcomes 
could vary from these estimates.

Impairment of intangible assets: 
An assessment is made of the carrying value of identifiable intangible assets, annually, or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors 
that trigger an impairment review include underperformance relative to historical or projected future 
results, significant changes in the manner of the use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the overall 
business and significant negative industry or economic trends. The most significant variables in 
determining cash flows are discount rates, terminal values, the number of years on which to base the 
cash flow projections, as well as the assumptions and estimates used to determine the cash inflows and 
outflows. Amounts estimated could differ materially from what will actually occur in the future.



BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

GROWTH IN
 CHANGE

59

2.	 Summary	of	Significant	Accounting	Policies	(Cont’d)
Critical Judgements, Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties (Cont’d)
Income taxes:
The group has exposure to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in 
determining the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and 
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 
business. The administration and enforcement of tax laws and regulations may be subject to 
uncertainty and a certain degree of discretion by the overseas tax authorities. Although the group 
believes the amounts recognised for income tax is adequate, these amounts may be insufficient based 
on the overseas tax authorities interpretation and application of these laws and regulations and the 
group may be required to pay more as a result. It is impracticable to determine the extent of the 
possible effects of the above, if any, on the consolidated financial statements of the group.

The group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the group’s income tax payables, 
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets at the reporting year date were $391,000, $240,000 and 
$5,000 respectively.

Deferred tax estimation:
Management Judgement is required in determining the amount of current and deferred tax recognised 
as income or expense and the extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised. A deferred tax 
asset is recognised if it is more likely than not that sufficient taxable income will be available in the 
future against which the temporary differences and unused tax losses can be utilised. Management 
also considers future taxable income and tax planning strategies in assessing whether deferred tax 
assets should be recognised in order to reflect changed circumstances as well as tax regulations. As a 
result, due to their inherent nature, it is likely that deferred tax calculation relates to complex fact 
patterns for which assessments of likelihood are judgemental and not susceptible to precise 
determination. The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at the end of the reporting year was 
$5,000 and $240,000 respectively.
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3.	 Related	Party	Relationships	and	Transactions
FRS 24 defines a related party as a person or entity that is related to the reporting entity and it includes 
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family if that person: (i) has control or joint control over 
the reporting entity; (ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or (iii) is a member of the 
key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity. (b) An entity 
is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply: (i) The entity and the reporting 
entity are members of the same group. (ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity. 
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. (iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third 
entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity. (v) The entity is a post-employment benefit 
plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting 
entity. (vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). (vii) A person 
identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent company of the entity). 

3.1 Related Companies
 Related companies in these financial statements include the members of the company’s group 

of companies.
 
 There are transactions and arrangements between the reporting entity and members of the 

group and the effects of these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these 
financial statements. The current intercompany balances are unsecured without fixed repayment 
terms and interest unless stated otherwise. For non-current balances if significant an interest is 
imputed unless stated otherwise based on the prevailing market interest rate for similar debt 
less the interest rate if any provided in the agreement for the balance. For financial guarantees 
a fair value is imputed and is recognised accordingly if significant where no charge is payable.

 Intragroup transactions and balances that have been eliminated in these consolidated financial 
statements are not disclosed as related party transactions and balances.

3.2 Other Related Parties
 There are transactions and arrangements between the reporting entity and related parties and 

the effects of these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these financial 
statements. The current related party balances are unsecured without fixed repayment terms 
and interest unless stated otherwise. For non-current balances if significant an interest is 
imputed unless stated otherwise based on the prevailing market interest rate for similar debt 
less the interest rate if any provided in the agreement for the balance. For financial guarantees 
a fair value is imputed and is recognised accordingly if significant where no charge is payable. 
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3.	 Related	Party	Relationships	and	Transactions	(Cont’d)
3.2 Other Related Parties (Cont’d)

Significant related party transactions:
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the financial 
statements, this item includes the following: 

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Related	parties   
Sales of goods     99 122
Commission expenses     250 325
Subsidised travel expenses     17 10
Consultancy fee expenses     55 140

3.3 Key Management Compensation 
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits    2,879 4,155

The above amounts are included under employee benefits expense. Included in the above 
amounts are the following items:

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Remuneration of directors of the company    1,747 2,763
Fees to directors of the company     120 120
Fees to a company in which a director has an interest   77 26

Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the report 
on corporate governance.

Key management personnel are directors and those persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company, directly or indirectly. The 
above amounts for key management compensation are for all the directors and other key 
management personnel. 
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4.	 Financial	Information	by	Segments
4A.  Information about Reportable Segment Profit or Loss, Assets and Liabilities

Disclosure of information about operating segments, products and services, the geographical 
areas, and the major customers are made as required by FRS 108 Operating Segments. This 
disclosure standard has no impact on the reported results or financial position of the group.

For management purposes the group is organised into two major operating segments: direct 
selling and sales through agencies and retail. Such structural organisation is determined by the 
nature of risks and returns associated to each business segment and it defines the management 
structure as well as the internal reporting system. It represents the basis on which the 
management reports the primary segment information. They are managed separately because 
each business requires different strategies.

The segments are as follows:
a. Direct selling and sales through agencies segment mainly comprise of sales to customers 

through direct selling channels in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, Taiwan, 
Hong Kong, Vietnam, Myanmar, Philippines, and Australia; and

b. Retail segment comprises sales to retail customers through retailers in the People’s 
Republic of China.

Inter-segment sales are measured on the basis that the entity actually uses to price the transfers. 
Internal transfer pricing policies of the group are as far as practicable based on market prices. 
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the 
summary of significant accounting policies.

The management reporting system evaluates performances mainly based on a measure of 
earnings before depreciation, amortisation, interests and income taxes (called “Recurring EBITDA”). 
This measurement basis excludes the effect of expenditure from the operating segments such as 
goodwill impairment that are not expected to recur regularly in every reporting year.

The types of products include nutritional supplement products, personal care products and 
healthcare equipment. The information on each product and service, or each group of similar 
products and services is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive.

Segment results consist of costs directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis.

Segment assets consist principally of property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets, 
inventories, trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Segment liabilities consist principally of trade and other payables.
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4.	 Financial	Information	by	Segments	(Cont’d)
4A.  Information about Reportable Segment Profit or Loss, Assets and Liabilities (Cont’d)

Unallocated items comprise other financial assets, goodwill, other assets, other receivables, 
income tax payable and deferred tax assets and liabilities.

4B.  Profit or Loss from Continuing Operations and Reconciliations
	 	 	 Direct	selling	
	 	 	&	sales	through		
	 	 	 agencies	 Retail	 Unallocated	 Group	
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Continuing	Operations	2010
Revenue	by	Segment       
External sales and services   48,843	 706	 –	 49,549

Recurring	EBITDA  	 5,080	 (427)	 –	 4,653
Interest income   100	 38	 –	 138
Depreciation  	 (1,508)	 (34)	 –	 (1,542)
Amortisation   (83)	 (63)	 –	 (146)
Profit	(Loss)	before	Tax	from 

Continuing	Operations   3,589	 (486)	 –	 3,103
Income tax expenses      (980)
Profit	from	Continuing	Operations      2,123

Continuing	Operations	2009
Revenue	by	Segment       
External sales and services   68,829 4,127 – 72,956

Recurring	EBITDA   14,030 (1,231) – 12,799
Interest income   200 19 – 219
Interest income from other receivable   – – 293 293
Finance costs   – – (3) (3)
Depreciation   (1,591) (182) – (1,773)
Amortisation   (67) (79) – (146)
Profit	(Loss)	before	Tax	from	
	 Continuing	Operations   12,572 (1,473) 290 11,389
Income tax expenses      (1,678)
Profit	from	Continuing	Operations      9,711
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4.	 Financial	Information	by	Segments	(Cont’d)
4C. Assets and Reconciliations

	 	 	 Direct	selling	
	 	 	&	sales	through	
	 	 	 agencies		 Retail	 Unallocated	 Group	
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

2010
Total assets for reportable segments   35,794	 17,493	 –	 53,287
Unallocated:    
Deferred tax assets   –	 –	 5	 5
Other financial assets   –	 –	 468	 468
Other unallocated amounts   –	 –	 5,112	 5,112
Total	group	assets   35,794	 17,493	 5,585	 58,872

2009	   
Total assets for reportable segments   48,466 9,832 – 58,298
Unallocated:    
Deferred tax assets   – – 15 15
Other financial assets   – – 1,206 1,206
Other unallocated amounts   – – 5,629 5,629
Total	group	assets   48,466 9,832 6,850 65,148

4D. Liabilities and Reconciliations
	 	 	 Direct	selling	
	 	 	&	sales	through	
	 	 	 agencies		 Retail	 Unallocated	 Group	
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

2010
Total Liabilities for reportable segments   (7,904)	 (88)	 –	 (7,992)
Unallocated:    
Deferred tax liabilities   –	 –	 (240)	 (240)
Income tax payable   –	 –	 (391)	 (391)
Total group liabilities  	 (7,904)	 (88)	 (631)	 (8,623)

2009
Total Liabilities for reportable segments   (8,353) (542) – (8,895)
Unallocated:    
Deferred tax liabilities   – – (230) (230)
Income tax payable   – – (1,994) (1,994)
Total	group	liabilities   (8,353) (542) (2,224) (11,119)
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4.	 Financial	Information	by	Segments	(Cont’d)
4E. Other Material Items and Reconciliations

	 	 	 Direct	selling	
	 	 	&	sales	through
	 	 	 	agencies		 Retail	 Unallocated	 Group	
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

2010
Impairment of Intangible assets   –	 322	 –	 322
Additions to property, plant and equipment  1,139	 121	 –	 1,260
Additions to intangible assets    83	 1	 –	 84
    
2009
Impairment of Intangible assets   – 213 – 213
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary   – 317 – 317
Additions to property, plant and equipment  937 19 – 956
Additions to intangible assets    148 5 – 153

4F. Geographical Information
The group’s operations are mainly located in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, Taiwan, 
Hong Kong, Vietnam, Myanmar and People’s Republic of China.

The following table provides an analysis of the group revenue by geographical markets, 
irrespective of the origin of the goods and services:- 

	 	 Revenue	 Non-current	assets
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Singapore  	 12,692 13,300 4,393 5,494
Malaysia   6,938 11,206 912 1,007
Indonesia  	 5,793 21,770 626 748
Thailand   9,447 9,620 417 130
Taiwan  	 5,619 4,423 50 42
Unallocated(a)   9,060 12,637 1,855 1,678
Subtotal for all foreign countries  	 36,857 59,656  3,860 3,605
Total   49,549 72,956 8,253 9,099

(a) Unallocated comprise mainly Hong Kong, People’s Republic of China, Vietnam and Myanmar, Philippines 
and Australia.

Revenues are attributed to countries on the basis of the customer’s location. The non-current 
assets are analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located. The non-current 
assets include property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and exclude any financial 
instruments and deferred tax assets.
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4.	 Financial	Information	by	Segments	(Cont’d)
4G. Information About Major Customers

There are no customers with revenue transactions of over 10% of the group revenue.

5.	 Revenue
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Sale of goods     49,549 72,956

6.	 Other	Operating	Income
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Miscellaneous income      226 175
Interest income from other receivable(a)     – 293
Agency fee income from overseas agent     181 –
Management fee income     237 263
     644 731

(a) In 2009, the company has successfully recovered a prepayment of RMB20 million ($4,208,000) together with an 
interest of $293,000 which was included as other operating income in profit or loss. The prepayment was supposed 
to be part of the consideration for the acquisition of 51% stake in Nanjing Joymain Sci and Tech Development Co., 
Ltd (“Joymain”) upon completion of Joymain’s restructuring exercise. However, as Joymain was not able to obtain the 
necessary approval from the Ministry of Commerce of China within the stipulated time frame agreed by both parties, 
the Acquisition cannot be completed.

7.	 Other	Credits	and	(Other	Charges)
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Allowance for impairment on other receivables    	 (167) –
Allowance for impairment on trade receivables     (33) (294)
Bad debts written off     (1) –
Allowance for impairment on intangible assets     (322) (213)
Inventories written down     (178) (31)
Foreign exchange adjustment (losses) gains, net    (222) 1,325
Plant and equipment written off     – (16)
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment     (13) (13)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 13)     – 317
Government grant income from jobs credit scheme    59 311
Net     (877) 1,386



BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

GROWTH IN
 CHANGE

67

7.	 Other	Credits	and	(Other	Charges)	(Cont’d)
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Presented in profit or loss as:    
Other Credits      59 1,953
Other Charges     (936) (567)
Net    	 (877) 1,386

8.	 Finance	Costs
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Interest expense     – 3

9.	 Other	Expenses
The major components include the following:

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Included in Distribution Costs    
Freelance commission     14,955 22,664

Included in Administrative Expenses    
Employee benefits expense     8,227 10,088
Rental of premises     2,914 2,423
 

10.	 Employee	Benefits	Expense
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Employee benefits expense including directors     7,611 9,482
Contribution to defined contribution plan     616 606
Total employee benefits expense included in Administrative Expenses  8,227 10,088

11.	 Items	in	Profit	or	Loss
In addition to the charges and credits disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the financial statements, 
this item includes the following charges:

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Other fees to independent auditors:    
 – Company’s independent auditor     40 40
 – Other independent auditors     11 10
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12.	 Income	Tax	
12A. Components of tax expense (income) recognised in profit or loss include:

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Current tax expense (income):     
Current tax expense     906 1,795
Under/(over) adjustments to current tax in respect of prior periods  54 (69)
Subtotal     960 1,726

Deferred tax expense (income):  
Deferred tax expense (income)     20 (46)
Deferred tax income relating to changes in tax rate   – (2)
Subtotal     20 (48)
Total income tax expense     980 1,678

The reconciliation of income taxes below is determined by applying the Singapore corporate 
tax rate where the parent company is domiciled. The income tax in profit or loss varied from 
the income tax amount determined by applying the Singapore income tax rate of 17% (2009: 
17%) to profit or loss before income tax as a result of the following differences:-

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Profit Before Tax     3,103 11,389
Income tax expense at the above rate     528 1,936
Non-taxable items     (864) (1,555)
Non-deductible items    	 1,500 1,467
Tax exemptions     (115) (228)
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance     7 (9)
Double taxation relief     (1) (2)
Under/(over) adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods  54 (69)
Effect of different tax rates in different countries    (69) 162
Change in tax rate     – (2)
Prior year unrecorded tax loss carry forward utilised   2 (22)
Effect of tax concessions and tax rebate     (64) –
Other items less than 3% each     2 –
Total income tax expense     980 1,678

There are no income tax consequences of dividends to owners of the company.
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12.	 Income	Tax	(Cont’d)
12B.  Deferred tax expense (income) recognised in profit or loss include:

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Excess of net book value of plant and equipment over tax values  – (49)
Tax loss carry forwards     3 10
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance     – (9)
Unabsorbed wear and tear allowances     (4) (1)
Unrealised exchange losses     21 1
Total deferred tax expense (income) recognised in profit or loss  20 (48)

12C.  Deferred Tax Balance in the Statements of Financial Position:
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009		 2010	 2009	
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised
 in profit or loss:    
Excess of net book value of plant and equipment 
 over tax values   (230) (230) (184) (184)
Tax loss carry forwards   150 153 – –
Unabsorbed wear and tear allowances   11 7 – –
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance   (157) (157) – –
Unrealised exchange losses   (9) 12 – –
Net total of deferred tax liabilities   (235) (215) (184) (184)

Presented in the statements of financial position as follows:
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009		 2010	 2009	
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	
	 	 	 	 	 	

Deferred tax liabilities   (240) (230) (184) (184)
Deferred tax assets   5 15 – –
Net position   (235) (215) (184) (184)

It is impracticable to estimate the amount expected to be settled or used within one year. 

For the Singapore companies, the realisation of the future income tax benefits from tax loss 
carryforwards and temporary differences from capital allowances is available for an unlimited 
future period subject to the conditions imposed by the law including the retention of majority 
shareholders as defined. 

Temporary differences arising in connection with interest in subsidiaries are insignificant.
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13.	 Disposal	of	a	Subsidiary
The gain on disposal of the subsidiary and the results of the subsidiary for the period from 1 January 
2009 to 30 September 2009, which have been included in the consolidated financial statements, were 
as follows:

	 	 	 	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 	 Period	
	 	 	 	 	 	 ended	
	 	 	 	 	 	 30	September
	 	 	 	 	 	 2009

	 	 	 	 	 	 $’000	

Revenue       1,881
Expenses      (3,026)
Loss before tax      (1,145)
Income tax expense      –
Loss after tax before disposal loss      (1,145)
  
Gain on disposal of subsidiary (Note 7)      317
Income tax expense      –
Gain after tax on disposal      317
Total loss on disposal      (828)

The following table summarises the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,  
Best World (Hunan) Health Sciences Company Ltd that was sold on 8 October 2009.

	 	 	 	 	 	 Date	of	
	 	 	 	 	 	 disposal	in	
	 	 	 	 	 	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 	 $’000

Plant and Equipment       465
Other assets       48
Trade and other receivables      1,125
Cash and cash equivalents      525
Trade and other payables      (2,480)
Net assets disposed of      (317)
Gain on disposal      317
Total consideration satisfy by cash proceeds      *
  
Net cash outflow on disposal:  
Cash consideration       *
Cash balance disposed of      525
Net cash outflow      525

* Denotes amount less than $1,000.
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14.	 Earnings	Per	Share
The following table illustrates the numerators and denominators used to calculate basic and diluted 
earnings per share of no par value:

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

A. Numerator: earnings attributable to equity   
 Continuing operations: attributable to equity holders   2,450 9,671

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 ’000	 ’000

B. Denominators: weighted average number of equity shares   
 – Basic      205,890 206,250
 – Diluted    	 206,144 206,250

The weighted average number of equity shares refers to shares in circulation during the reporting year. 

Basic earnings per share ratio is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during each period. 

Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive 
ordinary shares equivalents outstanding during each reporting period. The common share equivalents 
included in this calculation are the shares issuable upon assumed exercise of warrants which would 
have a dilutive effect. 

15.	 Dividends	on	Equity	Shares
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Interim one-tier tax-exempt dividend paid of 1.2 cents 
 (2009: 1.2 cents) per share     2,467 2,475
Final one-tier tax-exempt dividend paid of 0.5 cents 
 (2009: 0.5 cents) per share     1,031 1,031
Special one-tier tax-exempt dividend paid of 0.5 cents 
 (2009: 0.5 cents) per share     1,031 1,031
     4,529	* 4,537 *

* Amount does not agree to the Statements of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows due to 
the rounding difference.
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15.	 Dividends	on	Equity	Shares	(Cont’d)
In respect of the current year, the directors propose that a final one-tier tax-exempt dividend of  
0.5 cents per share totalling $1,027,000 and a special one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 0.5 cents per 
share totalling $1,027,000 be paid to shareholders after the annual general meeting. There are no 
income tax consequences. This dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements. The 
proposed dividend for 2010 is payable in respect of all ordinary shares in issue at the end of the reporting 
year and including the new shares, if any, issued up to the date the dividend becomes payable.

16.	 Property,	Plant	and	Equipment
	 	 	 Freehold	 Freehold	 Leasehold	 Plant	and	
	 	 	 land	 building	 properties	 equipment	 Total	
	 Group	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Cost:   
At 1 January 2009  912 400 2,246 9,373 12,931
Additions   – – – 956 956
Disposals   – – – (318) (318)
Elimination on disposal of a subsidiary  – – – (763) (763)
Foreign exchange adjustments   (1) – (18) (27) (46)
At 31 December 2009  911	 400	 2,228	 9,221	 12,760
Additions   –	 –	 –	 1,260	 1,260
Disposals   –	 –	 –	 (313)	 (313)
Foreign exchange adjustments   1	 –	 16	 (53)	 (36)
At 31 December 2010  912	 400	 2,244	 10,115	 13,671
 
Depreciation	and	impairment: 
At 1 January 2009  – 128 131 4,407 4,666
Depreciation for the year  – 8 32 1,733 1,773
Disposals   – – – (296) (296)
Elimination on disposal of a subsidiary  – – – (298) (298)
Foreign exchange adjustments   – – (1) (33) (34)
At 31 December 2009  –	 136	 162	 5,513	 5,811
Depreciation for the year  –	 8	 32	 1,502	 1,542
Disposals   –	 –	 –	 (240)	 (240)
Foreign exchange adjustments   –	 –	 –	 (4)	 (4)
At 31 December 2010  –	 144	 194	 6,771	 7,109

Net	book	value: 
At 1 January 2009  912	 272	 2,115	 4,966	 8,265
At 31 December 2009  911	 264	 2,066	 3,708	 6,949
At 31 December 2010  912	 256	 2,050	 3,344	 6,562
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16.	 Property,	Plant	and	Equipment	(Cont’d)
	 	 	 	 Freehold	 Freehold	 Plant	and		
	 	 	 	 land	 building	 equipment	 Total
	 Company	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	

Cost: 
At 1 January 2009   847 400 5,251 6,498
Additions    – – 244 244
Disposals   – – (274) (274)
At 31 December 2009   847	 400	 5,221	 6,468
Additions    –	 –	 284	 284
Disposals   –	 –	 (118)	 (118)
At 31 December 2010   847	 400	 5,387	 6,634
 
Depreciation	and	impairment: 
At 1 January 2009   – 128 2,278 2,406
Depreciation for the year   – 8 986 994
Disposals   – – (252) (252)
At 31 December 2009   –	 136	 3,012	 3,148
Depreciation for the year   –	 8	 951	 959
Disposals   –	 –	 (108)	 (108)
At 31 December 2010   –	 144	 3,855	 3,999
 
Net	book	value: 
At 1 January 2009   847	 272	 2,973	 4,092
At 31 December 2009   847	 264	 2,209	 3,320
At 31 December 2010   847	 256	 1,532	 2,635

The depreciation expense is charged as administrative expenses.

Certain leasehold land and property of a subsidiary at carrying value of $590,000 (2009: $588,000) are 
mortgaged to banks to secure banking facilities granted by the banks. The banking facilities remain 
unutilised as at the end of reporting year (Note 27E).
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17.	 Intangible	Assets
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Goodwill (Note 17A)   357 357 – –
Other Intangible Assets (Note 17B)   1,334 1,793 228 237
At end of the year   1,691 2,150 228 237

17A. Goodwill
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Cost:   
At beginning and at end of the year     357 357

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of 
those cash-generating units represents the group’s investment in each subsidiary as follows: 

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Name	of	subsidiaries:   
Best World Lifestyle Sdn. Bhd. (“BWLSB”)     324 324
BWL (Thailand) Company Limited (“BWLT”)    6 6
Best World China Investment Pte. Ltd. (“BWC”)    27 27
Cost as at end of the year     357 357

The goodwill was tested for impairment at the end of the reporting year. An impairment loss 
is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit (‘’CGU’’) 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit 
(“CGU”) is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell or its value in use. The recoverable amounts 
of cash-generating units have been determined based on its value in use method. The value is 
regarded as the lowest level for fair value measurement as the valuation includes inputs for the 
asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

In this case no impairment charges were recognised because the carrying amount of all cash-
generating units was lower than their recoverable amount.
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17.	 Intangible	Assets	(Cont’d)
17A. Goodwill (Cont’d)

The value in use was determined by management. The key assumptions used for value in use 
of each cash generating unit are consistent with those used for the calculation last performed 
for BWLSB and are analysed as follows:

	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009

1. Estimated discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect 
 current  market assessments at the risks specific to the CGUs.   16.41 15.36
2. Growth rates based on industry growth forecasts and not 
 exceeding the average long-term growth rate for the 
 relevant markets.     0% 0%
3. Cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial 
 budgets approved by management for the next five years.  5 years 5 years

17B. Other Intangible Assets
	 	 	 	 	 Product	 	
	 	 	 	 	 License	(a)	 Trade	marks	 Total	
	 Group	 	 	 	 $’000	 	 $’000	 $’000

Cost: 
At 1 January 2009    2,283 402 2,685
Additions    – 153 153
Foreign exchange adjustments     (215) 4 (211)
At 31 December 2009    2,068	 559	 2,627
Additions    –	 84	 84
Foreign exchange adjustments     (138)	 –	 (138)
At 31 December 2010    1,930	 643	 2,573

Amortisation	and	impairment: 
At 1 January 2009    523 140 663
Amortisation for the year    76 70 146
Impairment for the year    213 – 213
Foreign exchange adjustments     (186) (2) (188)
At 31 December 2009   	 626	 208	 834
Amortisation for the year    63	 83	 146
Impairment for the year    322	 –	 322
Foreign exchange adjustments     (69)	 6	 (63)
At 31 December 2010    942	 297	 1,239

Net	book	value: 
At 1 January 2009    1,760	 262	 2,022
At 31 December 2009    1,442	 351	 1,793
At 31 December 2010    988	 346	 1,334
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17.	 Intangible	Assets	(Cont’d)
17B. Other Intangible Assets (Cont’d)

	
	 	 	 	 	 	 Trade	marks	 Total	
	 Company	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Cost:	
At 1 January 2009     301 301
Additions     81 81
At 31 December 2009     382 382
Additions     41 41
At 31 December 2010     423 423

Amortisation	and	impairment:      
At 1 January 2009     100 100
Amortisation for the year     45 45
At 31 December 2009     145 145
Amortisation for the year     50 50
At 31 December 2010     195 195
    
Net	book	value:    
At 1 January 2009     201 201
At 31 December 2009     237 237
At 31 December 2010     228 228

The amortisation expense is charged as administrative expenses in profit or loss.
 
(a) The company entered into an asset sale and purchase agreement dated 16 January 2004, as supplemented 

by Supplemental Agreement dated 16 February 2004 (the “Vigor Acquisition Agreement”) with Chengdu 
Weige’er Stock Holding Co., Ltd and Chengdu Tonglian Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd to acquire 20 product licences, 
inventories and all the trademarks in respect of the range of nutritional supplements sold and marketed in 
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) for the past 5 years under the brand “Vigor”. The consideration payable 
in respect of this acquisition is approximately but not more than RMB20 million (S$4.2 million).

 On 9 February 2004, the company, Best World China Investments Pte. Ltd. (‘’BWC’’), Chengdu Weige’er Stock 
Holding Co., Ltd and Chengdu Tonglian Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd entered into an agreement to novate all the 
company’s rights, interest and obligations under the Vigor Acquisition Agreement to BWC.
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17.	 Intangible	Assets	(Cont’d)
17B. Other Intangible Assets (Cont’d) 

 On 9 August 2005, BWC, Best World Lifestyle (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, Chengdu Weige’er Stock Holding Co., Ltd 
and Chengdu Tonglian Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd entered into an agreement to further novate BWC’s rights, 
interest and obligations under Vigor Acquisition Agreement to Best World Lifestyle (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

 Best World Lifestyle (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“BWL Shanghai”) completed the acquisition under the Vigor 
Acquisition Agreement during 2006 and acquired 16 product licenses from the vendor. Four product licences 
and certain inventories stated in the agreement were not transferred to BWL Shanghai. The net consideration 
for the acquisition of the 16 product licenses amounted to RMB10.03 million (S$2.0 million).

 The useful lives of the product licenses are estimated to be 25 years. Amortisation of the product licenses 
commenced in 2008 when the products under the product licenses commenced trading. An impairment test 
was performed. The recoverable amount was determined by management based on the estimated present 
value of the future cash flows attributable to the product licenses. The key assumptions used for the 
calculation are as follows: 

	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009

1. Estimated discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current 
  market assessments at the risks specific to the CGUs  17.2% 12.25%
2. Growth rates for year 2011 is based on company growth forecasts 
  and subsequently the growth rates are as follows:   

 – For the year 2011 – 30%
  – For the year 2012 15% 30% 

 – For the year 2013 15% 20% 
 – For the year 2014  10% 20% 
 – For the year 2015 10% 3% 
 – From year 2016 to 2033 3% 3%

3. Cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial 
  budgets approved by management 23	years 24 years
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18.	 Investments	in	Subsidiaries
	 	 	 Company
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009	
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

	

Cost at the beginning of the year     9,813 11,050
Additions      13,112 6,548
Disposals     – (7,785)
Unquoted equity shares at cost    	 22,925 9,813
Less allowance for impairment     (382) (52)
Balance at end of the year     22,543 9,761

Net book value of subsidiaries     26,772 15,670

Analysis	of	above	amounts	denominated	in	non-functional	currency:   
Malaysian Ringgits     1,753 1,753
Indonesian Rupiahs     3,037 3,037
New Taiwan Dollars     94 94
Hong Kong Dollars     118 118
United States Dollars     15,098 3,457
Korean Won      909 51
Philippine Peso     283 –

Movement	in	allowance	for	impairment: 
Balance at beginning of the year     52 1,855
Impairment losses charged/(reversed) to profit or loss(a)   	 330 (1,800)
Impairment written-off     – (3)
Balance at end of the year     382 52

(a) The reversal of impairment loss was due to the disposal of a subsidiary in 2009.

The subsidiaries held by the company and the group are listed below:
	
	 	 Cost	in	books	 Effective	percentage		
	 	 of	company	 of	equity	held	by	group
	 Name	of	subsidiaries,	country	of	incorporation,	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 place	of	operations	and	principal	activities	 	 	 $’000		 $’000	 %	 %

Held	by	the	company    
Best World Lifestyle Pte Ltd(a)   1,251 1,251 100 100
Singapore    
Distribution of cosmetics, skin care, nutritional 
 supplements, personal care products 

and healthcare equipment    
    



BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

GROWTH IN
 CHANGE

79

18.	 Investments	in	Subsidiaries	(Cont’d)
The subsidiaries held by the company and the group are listed below:

	
	 	 Cost	in	books	 Effective	percentage	
	 	 of	company	 of	equity	held	by	group
	 Name	of	subsidiaries,	country	of	incorporation,	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 place	of	operations	and	principal	activities	 	 	 $’000		 $’000	 %	 %

Held	by	the	company    
Avance Living Pte. Ltd.(a)   4 4 100 100
Singapore    
Distribution of nutritional supplements, personal care 

products and healthcare equipment    

Best World Lifestyle Sdn. Bhd.(c)   1,753 1,753 70 70
Malaysia    
Import and distribution of cosmetics, skin care, 
 nutritional supplements, personal care 

products and healthcare equipment    
 

PT Best World Indonesia(b)   3,037 3,037 70 70
Indonesia    
Import and distribution of cosmetics, skin care, 
 nutritional supplements, personal care 

products and healthcare equipment    
    
BWL (Thailand) Company Limited(b) (i)   48 48 49 49
Thailand    
Import and distribution of cosmetics, skin care, 
 nutritional supplements, personal care 

products and healthcare equipment    
    
Best World China Investments Pte. Ltd.(a)   * * 100 100
Singapore    
Investment holding company    
    
Best World Lifestyle (HK) Company Limited(b)   118 118 100 100
Hong Kong    
Distribution of cosmetics, skin care, nutritional
 supplements, personal care products 

and healthcare equipment    
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18.	 Investments	in	Subsidiaries	(Cont’d)
The subsidiaries held by the company and the group are listed below:

	
	 	 Cost	in	books	 Effective	percentage		
	 	 of	company	 of	equity	held	by	group
	 Name	of	subsidiaries,	country	of	incorporation,	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 place	of	operations	and	principal	activities	 	 	 $’000		 $’000	 %	 %

Held	by	the	company    
BBWL Sdn Bhd(h) (l)   * * 100 100
Brunei    
Import and distribution of cosmetics, skin care,
 nutritional supplements, personal care 

products and healthcare equipment    
    
Best World Lifestyle Pty Ltd(h)   * * 100 100
Australia    
Import and distribution of cosmetics, skin care, 
 nutritional supplements, personal care 

products and healthcare equipment    
    
Best World Lifestyle (Taiwan) Co., Ltd(b)   94 94 100 100
Taiwan    
Distribution of health food, network services,  sanitary 

 products, skin care and cosmetic products    

BWL Korea Co., Ltd(d)   1,239 51 100 100
Korea    
Distribution of skin care, health food and equipment

    
PT Best World Lifestyle Indonesia(b) (j)    
Indonesia    – – 70 70
Distribution of cosmetics, skin care, nutritional  supplements, 

 personal care products and healthcare equipment    
    
Best World (Qingdao) Health Sciences Company Ltd(e)    
People’s Republic of China   15,098 3,457 100 100
Distribution of skin care and health-related products    
    
BWL Health & Sciences, Inc.(b)

(Incorporated on 26 February 2010)    
Philippines   	 283 – 80 80
Selling and distribution, on wholesale basis,  of skin care, 
 nutritional supplements  and personal care products 

and health care supplements     
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18.	 Investments	in	Subsidiaries	(Cont’d)
The subsidiaries held by the company and the group are listed below:

	
	 	 Cost	in	books	 Effective	percentage		
	 	 of	company	 of	equity	held	by	group
	 Name	of	subsidiaries,	country	of	incorporation,	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 place	of	operations	and	principal	activities	 	 	 $’000		 $’000	 %	 %

Held	by	the	company
Vista Link Company Limited(f) (k)    
Vietnam    – – 100 –
Trading and distribution of skin care 

and health-related products     
   22,925 9,813
    
Held	through	Best	World	China	Investments	Pte.	Ltd.    
Best World Lifestyle (Shanghai) Co., Ltd(g)   3,006 3,006 100 100
People’s Republic of China    
Import and distribution of cosmetics, skin care,  nutritional 
 supplements, personal care  products and healthcare 
 equipment. Has not commenced commercial operations. 
   
(a) Audited by RSM Chio Lim LLP, a member of RSM International. 
(b) Audited by member firms of RSM International of which RSM Chio Lim LLP in Singapore is a member.
(c) Audited by Crowe Horwath Malaysia.
(d) Audited by E-Hyun Accounting Corporation.
(e) Audited by Qingdao Haiyuan Certified Public Accountants.
(f ) Audited by DTL Auditing Company, a member of Crowe Horwath International.
(g) Audited by Hunan Zhongqiao Sanxiang Certified Public Accountants.
(h) Not audited as the financial result is not significant to the group.
(i) The group considers the company as a subsidiary of the group as the group has management control over the 

company through a shareholders’ agreement.
(j) The entity is not owned by the group directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, but is consolidated as the group is 

able to have control over the entity’s financial and operating policies by virtue of an agreement with the shareholders 
of the entity. The group has 70% effective control over the entity.

(k) The entity is not owned by the group directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, but is consolidated as the group is 
able to have control over the entity’s financial and operating policies by virtue of a management agreement with the 
shareholder of the entity. The group has 100% effective control over the entity.

(l) The company is in the progress of striking off.

As is required by Rule 716 of the Listing Manual of The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, 
the audit committee and the board of directors of the company have satisfied themselves that the 
appointment of different auditors for certain of its overseas subsidiaries would not compromise the 
standard and effectiveness of the audit of the group.

* Denotes amount less than $1,000.
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19.	 Other	Receivables
	 	 	 Company
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009

	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	

Non-current     
Loan receivables from subsidiaries (Notes 3 and 18)(a)    3,289 3,289
Less: allowance for impairment    	 (1,400) –
Total	     1,889 3,289
     
Movements	in	above	allowance:     
Balance at beginning of the year     – –
Charged to profit or loss included in other charges    1,400 –
Balance at end of the year     1,400 –

(a) A loan receivable of $3,289,000 (2009: 3,289,000) is unsecured, interest-free, quasi-equity loan. It is not expected to 
be settled in the foreseeable future.

 
20.	 Other	Financial	Assets
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009

	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Movements	during	the	year:  
Balance at beginning of the year   1,206 3,709 1,000 3,500
Foreign exchange adjustments   3 (3) – –
Additions    259 – 259 –
Disposals   (1,000) (2,500) (1,000) (2,500)
Balance at end of the year   468 1,206 259 1,000

Balance is made up of:  
Non-current  
Held-to-maturity Investment at amortised cost:  
Unquoted Long Term Structured Deposit with 
 effective interest rate at 0% to 9% (2009: 0% to 8.5%)
 maturing on 14 February 2012(a)   209 206 – –
Quoted Long Term Investment Bond with 
 effective interest rate at 3.22% maturing 
 on 8 April 2015   259 – 259 –
Subtotal    468 206 259 –
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20.	 Other	Financial	Assets	(Cont’d)
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009

	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Current        
Held-to-maturity Investment at amortised cost:      
Unquoted Long Term Yield Notes with 
 effective interest rate at 2.0% to 2.1% 
 maturing on 26 April 2010(b)   – 1,000 – 1,000
Subtotal    – 1,000 – 1,000
Total other financial assets   468 1,206 259 1,000

None of the financial assets measured at amortised cost were reclassified to financial assets at fair value.

(a) The fair value of the unquoted long term structure deposit is deemed to be not reliably measurable as the probabilities 
of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed as used in the estimating fair values. 

 (b) The unquoted long term yield note was disposed on the maturity date in year 2010.
 
21.	 Inventories
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009

	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Finished goods for resale   5,138 6,794 3,538 5,022

Inventories	are	stated	after	allowance.	
Movement in allowance: 
Balance at beginning of the year   (79) (48) (79) (48)
Charged to profit or loss included in other charges  (178) (31) (178) (31)
Charged to profit or loss included in cost of sales  (127) – – –
Used as inventories written off   31 – 31 –
Balance at end of the year   (353) (79) (226) (79)

Decrease in inventories of finished goods    1,656 1,576 1,484 97
Cost of purchases  	 9,004 16,260 6,734 12,702
Inventories written off charged to profit or loss 
 included in cost of sales   623 1,183 606 –

There are no inventories pledged as security for liabilities.
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22.	 Trade	and	Other	Receivables
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009

	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Trade	receivables    
Outside parties   4,114 7,244 936 2,960
Subsidiaries (Note 3)   – – 8,536 8,421
Less: allowance for impairment   (594) (561) (3,328) (2,337)
Subtotal  	 3,520 6,683 6,144 9,044

Other	receivables       
Subsidiaries (Note 3)   – – 4,313 3,277
Tax recoverable  	 235 21 – –
Other receivables   	 3,141 3,581	 1,491 2,449
Less: allowance for impairment   (196) (43) (778) (731)
Subtotal   3,180 3,559 5,026 4,995
Total trade and other receivables   6,700 10,242 11,170 14,039

Movements in above allowance:       
Balance at beginning of the year   604 365 3,068 1,361
Charge for trade receivables to profit or loss 
 included in other charges   33 294 991 1,303
Charge for other receivables to profit or loss 
 included in other charges   167 – 47 404
Foreign exchange adjustments for trade receivables  (14) – – –
Used   – (55) – –
Balance at end of the year   790 604 4,106 3,068
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23.	 Other	Assets
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Deposits     1,297 1,408 791 1,125
Prepayments   278 305 107 87
Total other assets   1,575 1,713 898 1,212

24.	 Cash	and	Cash	Equivalents
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Not restricted in use(a)   34,974 34,320 10,781 22,150
Cash pledged for bank facilities(b)  	 1,759 1,759 1,500 1,500
Cash at end of the year  	 36,733 36,079 12,281 23,650
 
Interest earning balances  	 12,644 20,246 10,519 18,558

The rate of interest for the cash on interest earning accounts is between 0.06% and 2.8% (2009: 0.025% 
and 3.7%) per annum.

(a) The balance represent short term and long term deposits ranging from 7 days to a year (2009: 7 days to a year) maturity.

(b) This is for fixed deposits ranging from 1 month to 5 years (2009: 1 month to 5 years) maturity pledged to certain banks 
to secure banking facilities granted to the group. The banking facilities remain unutilised as at the end of reporting 
year (Note 27E).

24A. Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows:
	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

 Amount as shown above     36,733 36,079
Cash pledged for bank facilities    	 (1,759) (1,759)

 Cash and cash equivalents for consolidated statement 
 of cash flows purposes at end of the year    34,974 34,320
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25.	 Share	Capital
	 	 	 	 	 Number	of		 Share
	 	 	 	 	 shares	issued	 capital	
	 	 	 	 	 ‘000	 $’000

Ordinary shares of no par value:   
Balance at 1 January 2009 and 31 December 2009    206,250 17,686
Share Buy Back – held as Treasury Shares(a)     (818) (289) 
Other Expenses      – (46)
Balance at 31 December 2010     205,432 17,351

The ordinary shares of no par value which are fully paid carry no right to fixed income. The company 
is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

(a) The company acquired 818,000 (2009: NIL) of its ordinary shares through purchases on the Singapore Exchange 
during the reporting year at share price ranging from $0.285 to $0.345. The total amount paid to acquire the shares 
was $289,000 and has been deducted from shareholders’ equity. The shares are held as treasury shares.

 In July 2010, the company completed its issue of up to 41,140,995 non-renounceable bonus warrants on the basis of 
one warrant for every five existing ordinary shares held by shareholders of the company, on books closure date, 
fractional entitlements to be disregarded.

 Each warrant will entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one new ordinary share in the ordinary share capital of 
the company at the exercise price of $0.30, exercisable during the period commencing on and including the date six 
months from the date of listing of the warrants and expiring at 5 p.m. on the market day immediately preceding the 
third anniversary of the date of the issue of the warrants. The bonus warrants will expire on 5 July 2013. Share warrants 
outstanding at the end of the reporting year totalled 41,140,995.

Capital Management:
The objectives when managing capital are: to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and benefits for other stakeholders, and 
to provide an adequate return to owners by pricing products and services commensurately with the 
level of risk. The management sets the amount of capital to meet its requirements and the risk taken. 
There were no changes in the approach to capital management during the year. The management 
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it where necessary or possible in the light 
of changes in conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the management may adjust the amount of dividends paid to owners, 
return capital to owners, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.
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25.	 Share	Capital	(Cont’d)
Capital Management (Cont’d):
In order to maintain its listing on the Singapore Stock Exchange it has to have share capital with at 
least a free float of 10% of the shares. The company met the capital requirement on its initial listing 
and the rules limiting treasury share purchases mean it will automatically continue to satisfy that 
requirement, as it did throughout the year. Management receives a report from the registrars frequently 
on substantial share interests showing the non-free float and it demonstrated continuing compliance 
with the 10% limit throughout the year.

The management does not set a target level of gearing but uses capital opportunistically to support 
its business and to add value for shareholders. The key discipline adopted is to widen the margin 
between the return on capital employed and the cost of that capital. 

The company has no external borrowings as at 31 December 2010.

All reserves classified on the face of the statement of financial position as retained earnings represents 
past accumulated earnings and are distributable. The other reserves are not available for cash 
dividends unless realised.

 
26.	 Trade	and	Other	Payables
	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Trade	payables    
Outside parties and accrued liabilities(a)   5,905 6,402 1,903 2,570
Provision for penalty(b)   800 800 – –
Subtotal   6,705 7,202 1,903 2,570

Other	payables 
Deferred revenue   – 168 – –
Other payables   1,287 1,525 105 519
Subtotal   1,287 1,693 105 519
Total trade and other payables   7,992 8,895 2,008 3,089

(a) Included in accrued liabilities are provision for restoration cost of $248,000 and $183,000 at group level and company 
level respectively.

(b) On grounds of prudence, the provision for penalties was made to cover potential infringement of local regulations 
with respect to a foreign subsidiary in 2007.
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27.	 Financial	Instruments:	Information	on	Financial	Risks
27A. Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The following table summarises the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded 
at the end of the reporting year by FRS 39 categories:

	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Financial	assets:   
Cash and bank balances   36,733 36,079 12,281 23,650
Held-to-maturity investments   468 1,206 259 1,000
Trade and other receivables   6,465 10,221 11,170 14,039
At end of the year   43,666 47,506 23,710 38,689

Financial	liabilities: 
Measured at amortised cost: 
Trade and other payables  	 6,944 7,679 1,825 2,906
At end of the year   6,944 7,679 1,825 2,906

Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.
 

27B. Financial Risk Management
The main purpose for holding or issuing financial instruments is to raise and manage the 
finances for the entity’s operating, investing and financing activities. There are exposures to the 
financial risks on the financial instruments such as credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
comprising interest rate, currency risk and price risk exposures. The management has certain 
practices for the management of financial risks and action to be taken in order to manage the 
financial risks. However these are not formally documented in written form. The guidelines 
included the following:

1. Minimise interest rate, currency, credit and market risks for all kinds of transactions.
2. Maximise the use of “natural hedge”: favouring as much as possible the natural  

off-setting of sales and costs and payables and receivables denominated in the same 
currency and therefore put in place hedging strategies only for the excess balance.  
The same strategy is pursued with regard to interest rate risk. 

3. All financial risk management activities are carried out and monitored by senior 
management staff.

4. All financial risk management activities are carried out following good market practices.
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27.	 Financial	Instruments:	Information	on	Financial	Risks	(Cont’d)
27C. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are at a carrying amount that is a 
reasonable approximation of fair value.

27D. Credit Risk on Financial Assets
Financial assets that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk and failures by 
counterparties to discharge their obligations in full or in a timely manner consist principally of 
cash balances with banks, cash equivalents and receivables, certain investments, and other 
financial assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is: the total of the fair value of the financial 
instruments; the maximum amount the entity could have to pay if the guarantee is called on; 
and the full amount of any loan payable commitment at the end of the reporting year. Credit 
risk on cash balances with banks and derivative financial instruments is limited because the 
counter-parties are entities with acceptable credit ratings. Credit risk on other financial assets is 
limited because the other parties are entities with acceptable credit ratings. For credit risk on 
receivables an ongoing credit evaluation is performed of the financial condition of the debtors 
and a loss from impairment is recognised in profit or loss. The exposure to credit risk is controlled 
by setting limits on the exposure to individual customers and these are disseminated to the 
relevant persons concerned and compliance is monitored by management. There is no significant 
concentration of credit risk, as the exposure is spread over a large number of counter-parties 
and customers unless otherwise disclosed in the notes to the financial statements below. 

Note 24 discloses the maturity of the cash and cash equivalents balances.

As part of the process of setting customer credit limits, different credit terms are used. The 
average credit period generally granted to trade receivable customers is about 30 days (2009: 
30 days). But some customers take a longer period to settle the amounts. 

a. Ageing analysis of the age of trade receivable amounts that are past due as at the end 
of reporting year but not impaired:

	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

 Trade	receivables:	     
 Less than 60 days   368 344 1,345 1,128
 61 to 90 days   136 1,132 747 1,032

Over 90 days   143 544 901 2,651
At end of the year   647 2,020 2,993 4,811
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27.	 Financial	Instruments:	Information	on	Financial	Risks	(Cont’d)
27D. Credit Risk on Financial Assets (Cont’d)

b. Ageing analysis as at the end of reporting year of trade receivable amounts that are 
impaired:

	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Trade	receivables:	      
Over 90 days   594 561 3,328 2,337
At end of the year   594 561 3,328 2,337

 The allowance which is disclosed in Note 22 on trade receivables is based on individual 
accounts totalling $594,000 (2009: $561,000) that are determined to be impaired at the 
end of reporting year. These are not secured.

 Other receivables are normally with no fixed terms and therefore there is no maturity.

 Concentration of trade receivable customers as at the end of reporting year:

	 	 Group	 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

 Top 1 customer   714 1,552 4,199 4,887
 Top 2 customers   855 2,136 5,462 6,439

Top 3 customers   988 2,718	 6,184 7,274

27E. Liquidity Risk 
The following table analyses the non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual 
maturity (contractual and undiscounted cash flows): 

	 	 	 	 Less	than	 2	–	5	
	 	 	 	 1	year	 years	 Total
	 Group		 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	

Non-derivative	financial	liabilities	
2010
Trade and other payables    6,944	 –	 6,944
At end of the year    6,944	 –	 6,944
 
2009	
Trade and other payables    7,679 – 7,679
At end of the year    7,679 – 7,679
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27.	 Financial	Instruments:	Information	on	Financial	Risks	(Cont’d)
27E. Liquidity Risk (Cont’d)

	 	 	 	 Less	than	 2	–	5	
	 	 	 	 1	year	 years	 Total
	 Company		 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	

	 Non-derivative	financial	liabilities	
2010
Trade and other payables    1,825	 –	 1,825
At end of the year    1,825	 –	 1,825
 
2009
Trade and other payables    2,906 – 2,906
At end of the year    2,906 – 2,906

The above amounts disclosed in the maturity analysis are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows and such undiscounted cash flows differ from the amount included in the statement of 
financial position. When the counterparty has a choice of when an amount is paid, the liability 
is included on the basis of the earliest date on which it can be required to pay. 

The liquidity risk refers to the difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. It is expected that all the liabilities 
will be paid at their contractual maturity. The average credit period taken to settle trade 
payables is about 30 days (2009: 30 days). The other payables are with short-term durations. 
The classification of the financial assets is shown in the statement of financial position as they 
may be available to meet liquidity needs and no further analysis is deemed necessary. 

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 Bank	facilities:	 	 	 	 	 $’000		 $’000

Undrawn borrowing facilities     14,173 6,935

The undrawn borrowing facilities are available for operating activities and to settle other 
commitments. Borrowing facilities are maintained to ensure funds are available for the 
operations. A monthly schedule showing the maturity of financial liabilities and unused bank 
facilities is provided to management to assist them in monitoring the liquidity risk. 

27F. Interest Rate Risk
The interest rate risk exposure is mainly from changes in fixed rate and floating interest rates 
from financial assets and financial liabilities which are not significant. The interest rates are 
disclosed in the Notes 20 and 24.
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27.	 Financial	Instruments:	Information	on	Financial	Risks	(Cont’d)
27G. Foreign Currency Risks

Analysis of amounts denominated in non-functional currency:
	 	 	 	 Trade	 Other
	 	 	 	 and	other	 financial		
	 	 	 	 Cash	 receivables	 	assets	 Total	
	 Group	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Financial	assets:	 
At 31 December 2010
Australian Dollars   11	 1	 –	 12
Brunei Dollars   –	 1	 –	 1
China Yuan Renminbi   8,992	 222	 –	 9,214
Hong Kong Dollars   454	 21	 –	 475
Indonesian Rupiahs  	 546	 1,872	 –	 2,418
Korean Won   879	 9	 –	 888
Malaysian Ringgits   2,563	 1,262	 210	 4,035
New Taiwan Dollars  	 1,545	 8	 –	 1,553
Philippines Pesos   287	 –	 –	 287
Thai Bahts   1,273	 206	 –	 1,479
United States Dollars   5,548	 709	 –	 6,257
Vietnam Dong   607	 129	 –	 736
   22,705	 4,440	 210	 27,355

At 31 December 2009
Australian Dollars   22 1 – 23
Brunei Dollars   15 – – 15
China Yuan Renminbi   4,182 1,314 – 5,496
Hong Kong Dollars   769 20 – 789
Indonesian Rupiahs   815 2,450 – 3,265
Korean Won   41 – – 41
Malaysian Ringgits   2,391 1,374 206 3,971
New Taiwan Dollars   780 45 – 825
Thai Bahts   1,045 380 – 1,425
United States Dollars   830 2,298 – 3,128
   10,890 7,882 206 18,978
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27.	 Financial	Instruments:	Information	on	Financial	Risks	(Cont’d)
27G. Foreign Currency Risks (Cont’d)

Analysis of amounts denominated in non-functional currency: (Cont’d)
	 	 		 	 	 Trade	
	 	 	 	 	 and	other	
	 	 	 	 	 	 payables	 Total	
	 Group	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Financial	liabilities: 
At 31 December 2010
Australian Dollars     4	 4
China Yuan Renminbi     38	 38
Hong Kong Dollars     68	 68
Indonesian Rupiahs    	 1,126	 1,126
Japanese Yen     11	 11
Korean Won    	 26	 26
Malaysian Ringgits     944	 944
New Taiwan Dollars     757	 757
Thai Bahts     908	 908
United States Dollars    	 330	 330
Vietnam Dong     92	 92
     4,304	 4,304

At 31 December 2009
Australian Dollars     7 7
Brunei Dollars     7 7
China Yuan Renminbi     325 325
Hong Kong Dollars     91 91
Indonesian Rupiahs     710 710
Korean Won     2 2
Malaysian Ringgits     609 609
New Taiwan Dollars     630 630
Thai Bahts     982 982
United States Dollars     103 103
     3,466 3,466
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27.	 Financial	Instruments:	Information	on	Financial	Risks	(Cont’d)
27G. Foreign Currency Risks (Cont’d)

Analysis of amounts denominated in non-functional currency: (Cont’d)
	 	 	
		 	 	 	 	 Trade		
	 	 	 	 	 and	other	

	 	 	 	 Cash	 receivables	 Total	
Company		 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Financial	assets:  
At 31 December 2010
China Yuan Renminbi    1	 –	 1
Korean Won    1	 –	 1
Philippines Pesos    1	 –	 1
United States Dollars    419	 1,217	 1,636
    422	 1,217	 1,639

At 31 December 2009
China Yuan Renminbi    1 1,314 1,315
Indonesian Rupiahs    1 – 1
Korean Won    1 – 1
Thai Bahts    – 167 167
United States Dollars    507 2,298 2,805
    510 3,779 4,289

	 	 	 	 	 Trade		
	 	 	 	 	 and	other	

	 	 	 	 	 payables	 Total	
Company		 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

	

Financial	liabilities:
At 31 December 2010
China Yuan Renminbi     3	 3
Japanese Yen     11	 11
Korea Won     20	 20
Malaysian Ringgits     218	 218
United States Dollars     340	 340
     592	 592

At 31 December 2009
Malaysian Ringgits     144 144
United States Dollars     103 103
     247 247

There is exposure to foreign currency risk as part of its normal business.
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27.	 Financial	Instruments:	Information	on	Financial	Risks	(Cont’d)
27G. Foreign Currency Risks (Cont’d)

	 	 	 Group
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009

Sensitivity	analysis:		 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of the functional 
 currency $ against all other currencies would have an 
 adverse effect on group profit before tax of    (329) (128)
A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of the functional 
 currency $ against the United States Dollars would have an 
 adverse effect on group profit before tax of    (539) (275)
A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of the functional 
 currency $ against the Indonesian Rupiahs would have an 
  adverse effect on group profit before tax of    (117) (232)
A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of the functional 
 currency $ against the Malaysian Ringgits would have an 
 adverse effect on group profit before tax of    (281) (306)
A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of the functional 
  currency $ against the China Yuan Renminbi would have an 
 adverse effect on group profit before tax of    (834) (470)

The above table shows sensitivity to a hypothetical 10% variation in the functional currency against 
the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity rate used is the reasonably possible change in foreign 
exchange rates. For similar rate weakening of the functional currency against the relevant foreign 
currencies, there would be comparable impacts in the opposite direction on the profit or loss.

The hypothetical changes in exchange rates are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). The sensitivity analysis is disclosed for each currency to which the entity 
has significant exposure. The analysis above has been carried out on the following basis:

1. There are no hedged transactions. 

 In management’s opinion, the above sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the 
foreign currency risks as the historical exposure does not reflect the exposures in future. 
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28.	 Capital	Commitments
Estimated amounts committed at the end of the reporting year for future capital expenditure but not 
recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

	 	 	 Group	and	company
	 	 	 	 	 2010	 2009
	 	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Commitment to take up shares in:   
Best World (Qingdao) Health Sciences Company Ltd

US$1,200,000 (2009: US$9,600,000)     1,538 13,476
 
29.	 Operating	Lease	Payment	Commitments

At the end of the reporting year the total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases are as follows:

	 	 Group		 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009	
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	

Not later than one year   1,976 2,576 757 1,268
Later than one year and not later than five years  941 2,403 – 1,067
Total   2,917 4,979 757 2,335

Rental expenses for the year   2,914 2,423 1,165 872

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable for certain office premises and retail outlets. The 
lease rental terms are negotiated for an average term of three years and rentals are not subject to an 
escalation clause.

30.	 Contingent	Liabilities
	 	 Group		 Company
	 	 	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009	
	 	 	 	 	 	 (restated)
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	

Banker’s guarantee in favour of a third party   90 90 90 90
Undertaking to support subsidiaries with deficit  – – 7,986 6,763
Corporate guarantee in favour of a financial  institution 

for banking facility granted  to a subsidiary  – – – 1,404
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31.	 Changes	and	Adoption	of	Financial	Reporting	Standards
For the year ended 31 December 2010 the following new or revised Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards were adopted. The new or revised standards did not require any material modification of 
the measurement methods or the presentation in the financial statements. 
 
FRS	No.	 Title
	

FRS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendments to)
FRS 7  Statement of Cash Flows (Amendments to)
FRS 17 Leases (Amendments to) 
FRS 27  Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Revised) 
FRS 28  Investments in Associates (Revised) (*)
FRS 36  Impairment of Assets (Amendments to)
FRS 38  Intangible Assets (Amendments to)
FRS 39  Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Item 

(Amendments to) (*)
FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Amendments to)
FRS 102 Share-based Payment (Amendments to) (*)
FRS 103  Business Combinations (Revised)
FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
 (Amendments to) (*)
FRS 108 Operating Segments (Amendments to) 
INT FRS 109 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (Amendments to) (*)
INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation (Amendments to) 
INT FRS 117 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners (*)
INT FRS 118 Transfers of Assets from Customers (*)
 
(*) Not relevant to the entity.

FRS 103 Business Combinations and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements were 
revised and are applied prospectively to business combinations first accounted for in the first annual 
reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and the amendments to FRS 27 apply retrospectively 
to periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. These have been adopted for the reporting year beginning 
from 1 January 2010. The main changes in existing practice resulting from the revision to FRS 103 
affect acquisitions that are achieved in stages and acquisitions where less than 100% of the equity is 
acquired. In addition, acquisition related costs must be recognised as expenses unless they are directly 
connected with the issue of debt or equity securities. The revisions to FRS 27 specify that changes in 
a parent company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the loss of control must be 
accounted for as equity transactions.
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31.	 Changes	and	Adoption	of	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(Cont’d)
The revised FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements requires Total Comprehensive 
Income to be attributed to the owners of the parent company and to the non-controlling interest even 
if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. Arising from the adoption of the 
revised FRS 27, non-controlling interest’s share of loss is no longer capped at its cost of investment. 
Accumulated losses of $86,000 was transferred from the group retained earnings to non-controlling 
interests as indicated in the statement of changes in equity.

 
32.	 Future	Changes	in	Financial	Reporting	Standards	

The following new or revised Singapore Financial Reporting Standards that have been issued will be 
effective in future. The transfer to the new or revised standards from the effective dates are not 
expected to result in material adjustments to the financial position, results operations, or cash flows 
for the following year. 
	 	 	

	 Effective	date	for	periods	
FRS	No.	 Title	 beginning	on	or	after
	 	

FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements Disclosures 
 (Amendments to) 1 Jan 2011
FRS 103 Business Combinations (Amendments to)  1 Jul 2010
FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendments to)  1 Jan 2011
FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendments to) 
 – Transfers of Financial Assets (*)  1 Jul 2011
FRS 12 Deferred Tax (Amendments to) – Recovery of Underlying Assets 1 Jan 2012
FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures (revised) 1 Jan 2011
FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
 (Amendments to)  1 Jul 2011
FRS 32 Classification Of Rights Issues (Amendments to) (*) 1 Feb 2010
FRS 34 Interim Financial Reporting (Amendments to) (*) 1 Jan 2011
INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes (Amendments to) (*) 1 Jan 2011
INT FRS 114 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (revised) (*) 1 Jan 2011
INT FRS 115 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate (*) 1 Jan 2011
INT FRS 119 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (*) 1 Jul 2010

  
(*) Not relevant to the entity.
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MAJOR 

PROPERTIES 

OF THE GROUP

Location	 		 Description	 	 Existing	use	 	 Tenure	of	land

37 Kallang Pudding Road 10-storey building Packaging facility/ Freehold land
Block B Tong Lee Building  Warehouse
#05-03/04
Singapore 349315

Block 726 Ang Mo Kio 2-storey building Business Centre Leasehold land 
Avenue 6 #01-4150   expiring on
Singapore 560726   1 October 2079

No. 11 Jalan Radin Anum 4-storey building Office and Leasehold land
Bandar Baru Seri Petaling  Business Centre expiring on
57000 Kuala Lumpur   5 April 2078
Malaysia

No. 141 Jalan Danga 3-storey building Office and Freehold land
Taman Nusa Bestari Dua  Business Centre
81300 Johor Bahru
Malaysia
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SHAREHOLDING 

STATISTICS

AS AT 21 MARCH 2011

Class of shares : Ordinary shares fully paid
Voting rights  : One vote per share 
No. of issued and paid-up shares (excluding treasury shares) : 205,431,997 

Distribution	of	Shareholders	by	Size	of	Shareholdings
	 	 	 	 	
	 No.	of	 %	of	 No.	of	 %	of
Size	of	Shareholdings	 Shareholders	 Shareholders	 Shares	 Shareholdings

1 – 999  89  6.73  34,326  0.02
1,000 – 10,000  564  42.66  3,001,607  1.46
10,001 – 1,000,000  649 49.09  42,758,100  20.81
1,000,001 – and above  20 1.52  159,637,964  77.71
Grand	Total		 1,322		 100.00		 205,431,997		 100.00

Percentage	of	Shareholding	in	the	Hands	of	Public
As at 21 March 2011, approximately 47.21% of the Company’s issued ordinary shares is held by the public 
and, therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.

As at 21 March 2011, there were 818,000 shares held as treasury shares, which represents 0.4% of the 
Company’s issued shares excluding treasury shares.

Twenty	Largest	Shareholders
	 	 	 	 No.	of	 	 %	of
Name	of	shareholder	 	 	 	 shares	 	 Shareholdings

1  D2 Investment Pte Ltd  75,000,000  36.51
2  HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd  13,926,500  6.78
3  Doreen Tan Nee Moi  12,152,000  5.92
4  Dora Hoan Beng Mui  11,552,000  5.62
5  Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd  7,383,000  3.59
6  Liong Mee San Mrs Boon Suan Lee  7,174,000  3.49
7  UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd  5,427,500  2.64
8  United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd  4,351,500  2.12
9  OCBC Securities Private Ltd  4,045,850  1.97
10  Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 2,893,750  1.41
11  Ang Chai Cheng  2,500,750  1.22
12  Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd  2,213,250  1.08
13  DBS Nominees Pte Ltd  1,887,250  0.92
14  Koh Boon Ooi  1,865,000  0.91
15  Wee Kheng Hoe Jason  1,280,000  0.62
16  Chua Siok Lan  1,250,000  0.61
17  Wee Kwee Huay Helene  1,241,250  0.60
18  Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd  1,223,000  0.60
19  Chang Grace Shain-Jou  1,200,000  0.58
20  Morgan Stanley Asia (Singapore) Securities Pte Ltd  1,071,364  0.52
Total		 	 159,637,964		 77.71
Note:
%:  Based on 205,431,997 shares (excluding shares held as treasury shares) as at 21 March 2011
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Register	of	Substantial	Shareholders	as	at	21	March	2011
	 	 Direct	Interest	 	 Deemed	Interest
	 	 No.	of	Shares	 %	 No.	of	Shares	 	 %

D2 Investment Pte Ltd  75,000,000  36.51 –  –
Hoan Beng Mui Dora  12,052,000 (1) 5.87 75,100,000 (2) 36.56
Tan Nee Moi Doreen 12,152,000  5.92 75,000,000 (3) 36.51
Li Lihui 100,000  0.05 12,052,000 (4) 5.87

Note:
(1) Includes 500,000 shares held in the name of Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd.

(2) Hoan Beng Mui Dora is deemed to be interested in 75,000,000 shares held by D2 Investment Pte Ltd and 100,000 shares held 
by an immediate family member, Li Lihui.

(3) Tan Nee Moi Doreen is deemed to be interested in 75,000,000 shares held by D2 Investment Pte Ltd.

(4)  Li Lihui is deemed to be interested in 12,052,000 shares held by an immediate family member, Hoan Beng Mui Dora.
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NOTICE OF 

ANNUAL GENERAL 

MEETING 

BEST WORLD IN
TERNATIONAL LIM

ITED 

COMPANY REGISTRATION NO. 199006030Z

(IN
CORPORATED IN

 THE REPUBLIC OF SINGAPORE)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be  
held at 1 Changi North Street 1, Lobby 2, Singapore 498789 on Friday, 29 April 2011 at 
10.00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:-

As	Ordinary	Business
1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2010 and the Directors’ Report and the 
Auditors’ Report thereon.

Resolution	1

2. To declare a final one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 0.50 Singapore cents per 
ordinary share for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 and a special 
one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 0.50 Singapore cents per ordinary share.

Resolution	2

3. To approve payment of directors’ fees of S$120,000 for the financial year  
ended 31 December 2010 (2009: S$120,000).

Resolution	3

4. To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 89  
of the Company’s Articles of Association:

i. Mr Lee Sen Choon 
Mr Lee Sen Choon, if re-elected as Director of the Company will remain as 
the Chairman of Audit Committee and member of the Nominating 
Committee and Remuneration Committee and will be considered as 
independent for purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

Resolution	4

ii. Mr Huang Ban Chin 
Mr Huang Ban Chin who is an Executive Director, if re-elected as Director 
of the Company will be considered a Non-Independent Director. 

Resolution	5

5. To re-appoint Messrs RSM Chio Lim LLP as Auditors of the Company and to 
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Resolution	6

As	Special	Business
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, 
with or without any modifications:

6. Authority to Issue Shares
“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, and the Listing 
Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), 
approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

Resolution	7

a. i. issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, 
bonus or otherwise;
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ii. make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would 
require shares to be issued or other transferable rights to subscribe 
for or purchase shares (collectively, “Instruments”) including but not 
limited to the creation and issue of warrants, debentures or other 
instruments convertible into shares;

iii. issue additional Instruments arising from adjustments made to the 
number of Instruments previously issued in the event of rights, 
bonus or capitalisation issues; 

at any time to such persons and upon such terms and for such purposes as 
the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

b. (notwithstanding the authority conferred by the shareholders may have 
ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or 
granted by the Directors while the authority was in force,

provided always that

the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including 
shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this 
resolution) does not exceed 50% of the Company’s total number of issued shares 
excluding treasury shares, of which the aggregate number of shares (including 
shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this 
resolution) to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the 
Company does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares excluding 
treasury shares of the Company, and for the purpose of this resolution, the total 
number of issued shares excluding treasury shares shall be the Company’s total 
number of issued shares excluding treasury shares at the time this resolution is 
passed, after adjusting for;

a. new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities,

b. new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards 
outstanding or subsisting at the time this resolution is passed provided the 
options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 
of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, and

c. any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s 
shares, and

such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general 
meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.”
(See Explanatory Note 1)
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7. Authority to Grant Awards and to Issue Shares under BWI Performance Share 
Scheme	
“That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to offer 
and grant awards from time to time in accordance with the provisions of the BWI 
Performance Share Scheme (the “PSS”), and, pursuant to Section 161 of the Act, 
to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the 
Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of awards 
granted under the PSS from time to time, as determined in accordance with the 
Rules of the PSS.” 
(See Explanatory Note 2)

Resolution	8

8. Proposed Renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate (on a poll taken)
“That:-

Resolution	9

a. for the purposes of the Act, the exercise by the Directors of the Company 
of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire the 
issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) not 
exceeding in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereinafter defined), at 
such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from 
time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereinafter defined), whether by 
way of:-
i. market purchases (each a “Market Purchase”) on the SGX-ST; and/or

ii. off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected 
otherwise than on the SGX-ST in accordance with any equal access 
schemes as may be determined or formulated by the Directors of the 
Company as they consider fit, which schemes shall satisfy all the 
conditions prescribed by the Act, and otherwise in accordance with 
all other provisions of the Act and Listing Manual of the SGX-ST as 
may for the time being be applicable,

be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally 
(the “Share Buyback Mandate”);

b. unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority 
conferred on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback 
Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any time and from time to 
time during the period commencing from the passing of this Resolution 
and expiring on the earlier of:
i. the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company 

(“AGM”) is held or required by law to be held;
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ii. the date on which the share buybacks pursuant to the Share Buyback 
Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

iii. the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buyback 
Mandate is varied or revoked;

c. in this Resolution:
“Prescribed	Limit” means 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the 
Company (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of passing of this 
Resolution unless the Company has effected a reduction of the share 
capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 
Act, at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the issued 
ordinary share capital of the Company shall be taken to be the amount of 
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as altered (excluding any 
treasury shares that may be held by the Company from time to time);

“Relevant	Period” means the period commencing from the date on which 
the last AGM was held and required by law to be held and expiring on the 
date the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the 
earlier, after the date of this Resolution; and

“Maximum	Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount 
(excluding brokerage, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and 
other related expenses) not exceeding:
i. in the case of a Market Purchase: 105% of the Average Closing Price; 

and
ii. in the case of an Off-Market Purchase: 120% of the Average Closing 

Price, where: 

“Average	Closing	Price” means the average of the closing market prices 
of a Share over the last five market days, on which transactions in the Shares 
were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase, and deemed to 
be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant 5-day 
period; and

d. the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete 
and do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as 
may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary to give 
effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.”
(See Explanatory Note 3)

9. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an 
Annual General Meeting.
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Notice	of	Books	Closure
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Register of Members and Share Transfer Books of the 
Company will be closed on 11 May 2011 to determine the shareholders’ entitlements 
to the proposed dividends. Duly completed registrable transfers of shares received by 
the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services (a business 
division of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd.) at 8 Cross Street, #11-00 PWC Building, Singapore 
048424, up to 5.00 p.m. on 10 May 2011 will be registered to determine shareholders’ 
entitlements to the proposed dividends. Subject as aforesaid, shareholders whose 
securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with ordinary 
shares in the capital of the Company as at 5.00 p.m. on the Books Closure Date will be 
entitled to the dividends.

The proposed dividends, if approved by the members at the Annual General Meeting, 
will be paid on 24 May 2011.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

CHAN	WAN	MEI	(MS)
LOW	SIEW	TIAN	(MS)
Company Secretaries
14 April 2011

Singapore
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Explanatory	Notes:
1. Resolution 7, if passed, will authorise and empower the Directors of the Company 

from the date of the above Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting to 
issue shares in the capital of the Company (including shares to be issued in 
pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) up to an 
amount not exceeding in aggregate 50% of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company of which the aggregate 
number of shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of 
the Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made 
or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 20% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the 
time this Resolution is passed, for such purposes as they consider would be in the 
interests of the Company. This authority will, unless revoked or varied at a general 
meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

For the purpose of Resolution 7, the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) is based on the Company’s total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) at the time this proposed ordinary resolution is passed 
after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of 
Instruments or the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time 
when this proposed ordinary resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus 
issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

2. Resolution 8, if passed, will authorise and empower the Directors of the Company 
to offer and grant awards under the BWI Performance Share Scheme (the “PSS”) 
and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the exercise of such shares under the 
PSS from time to time, as determined in accordance with the Rules of the PSS.

3. Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date 
of the above Meeting to purchase or otherwise acquire Shares by way of Market 
Purchases or Off-Market Purchases in accordance with any equal access schemes, 
provided that the aggregate number of Shares to be purchased or acquired under 
the Share Buyback Mandate does not exceed the Prescribed Limit, and at such 
price or prices as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time 
to time up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price. The information relating to 
this proposed Ordinary Resolution is set out in the Appendix enclosed together 
with the Annual Report.
Notes:
1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint 

not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. 
2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
3. If the appointor is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its 

duly authorised officer or attorney.
4. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company 

at 1 Changi North Street 1, Lobby 2, Singapore 498789 not later than 48 hours before the 
time appointed for the Meeting.
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